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Friday, June 28, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  We are here for day 2 of an oral hearing, to hear an application by Toronto Hydro for rates for the period from 2020 to 2024.  It is the OEB docket number EB-2018-0165.  And just before we take off where we left off, were there any preliminary matters that arose overnight?

MR. KEIZER:  I have one, Madam Chair.  There is a -- Mr. Trgachef just has a clarification to a question that was asked to him by Mr. Janigan.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. TRGACHEF:  Good morning.  If I could make a correction to a question that was asked regarding if the weighted average was the only concern in making the analysis public.

I believe I answered that it was just the weighted average.  It is actually both, as I indicated in my testimony prior.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  That's it?  So we left off with Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair, and good morning, Panel.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 1, resumed

Githu Mundenchira,

Aida Cipolla,

Elias Lyberogiannis,

Sushma Narisetty,

Hani Taki,

Jim Trgachef; Previously Affirmed

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:  (cont'd)

MR. MILLAR:  Just maybe you could join me at page 119 of the Staff compendium.  I just have a couple of questions about your forecast versus actual in-service additions for the previous period.  You can see they're displayed on that chart there.

If you go over to the far right side of the chart, you will see that for the entire period of 2015 to 2019 you are actually very close, right, your variance was only 1 percent off?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So for the entire period you did very well.  If we look at the individual years, there's some variance in there, and you see those displayed under the individual years.  It was minus 15 in 2015, minus 6 in 2016, and then there is a lot of catch-up in 2017 and 2018, and then a bit of a tail amount for 2019.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So at least in the last test period, it looks like generally speaking it was the first two years where you had significant underspend with respect to your approved amounts -- not underspend, lower amounts that closed to service as in-service additions.

That suggests that ratepayers were paying for those assets too early.  Is that fair?

MS. CIPOLLA:  What I would say -- I wouldn't say that that is necessarily fair in the context that the capital plan is over a five-year window, and so the Board approved the capital revenue requirement over that window.  And if you would appreciate, we received our decision from the OEB on December 29th, 2015, in which the rate order was then applied and finalized on March 1st, 2016.

So as a result, we were already in a period where we were waiting for the decision, so we were executing on it, we had executed '15, we already had '16 in flight as we were waiting for that decision, so we were operating the plan as we had put it in front of the OEB, but obviously it needed to wait for the final decision for execution.

Once we received the final decision we're operating on a five-year window and were able to then subsequently catch up through the remaining three years.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that's how it played out.  But in terms of the actual rate consequences of that, the approvals included cap ex amounts, including in-service additions for each of the five years; is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And as it happened -- and I take your point as to why it happened -- there was actually some underspend in the first years, and then I guess overspend to catch up in later years.  The result of that would be that ratepayers were paying in 2015 and 2016 for assets that were not actually yet in-service.

MS. CIPOLLA:  The mechanism of which rates are set, there is a customer protection that comes through with the CRRRVA account, and so you're correct in the fact that there were ISAs that didn't materialize in the first two years, but it was important that we received the Board's decisions on some of our significant projects, such as our ERP project, where getting approval for that really was important.  I mean, it was a significant implementation. So once we received the approval we executed on that plan.

So those were expectations that we would have started that project, particularly in '15, and had it ISA'd in '16, major spend in those years.  So that was pushed out as an illustrative example of why that happened.

MR. MILLAR:  Will we expect to see a similar pattern for 2020 to 2024?

MS. CIPOLLA:  What we would expect is that, given the timing of the application process and the timing of the decision, that it would be in line with our ability to execute through 2020, and so we will see less of that timing difference.  But I think what you will naturally see in a plan of a five years, that there are going to be puts and takes between years, and of course, you know, given the nature of where we operate, the changes as around to weather incidents, reactive work that we need to do, changes in the city, and considerations around that environment, external factors, there is going to be moves, and that is where this plan allows us to catch up in future years around that.

And I think specifically in the OEB's decision around CRRRVA it talks about having that flexibility in their decision.

MR. MILLAR:  I accept 100 percent you're never going to get this exactly right, there is going to be variance between years, but your point on the CRRRVA, that doesn't provide a full true-up for this, right?  Like, for the minus -- you underspend in the first two years, and again, just as a matter of math, I think what that means is ratepayers were paying for some assets that hadn't yet come into service.

The variance account you discussed does not true all of that up for -- to a -- it doesn't provide a refund to ratepayers for any of that.  I am not suggesting it is supposed to, I do accept these types of things happen, but I just want to make sure that I understand that ratepayers would have been paying for assets that were not yet in-service in the first two years of the plan.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  I would actually disagree with the point that the CRRRVA doesn't capture those considerations.  The capturing of timing and mix variance is what CRRRVA does, and so your in-service additions that come through, if they are delayed, we have obviously, to your point, have over-collected in the first few years, but effectively what happens is that goes into the variance account as a payable back to customers as a customer protection mechanism.

So in the later years, only if you catch up on your program would that minimize, but if those timing differences exist, it is a payback to customers, and that is why you will see an amount in that account.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Gluck was just whispering in my ear that that was a stupid question, so...

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  So you are right, you win this round.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, one final point on this.

The factors that led to you having underspend in 2015-2016 last time -- and I think a lot of it related to the timing of the decision, and I appreciate you need to know that before you spend too much money -- do you expect -- well, what's different this time?  Why wouldn't we expect to see that for the next period?

MS. CIPOLLA:  I think what's different this time, as you have appropriately noted, is the fact of the timing of the decision.  I think we're in a different place this round.

I also think based on the nature of the programs.  In the last application we had some big projects that we were looking at, ERP, Copeland, and we were waiting for a decision on those until complete execution around some of those considerations.

So I think this time around, yes, we do have some large projects, but they're a little bit different.  This is about maintaining reliability of our system.  It is about ensuring that we continue to provide, you know, a safe environment around those assets and what we need to do to maintain the grid.

So I think it is more about maintaining that reliability.  So it is more about the execution of the program through the whole course.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the only difference then the large projects that you were awaiting to hear approval for, like Copeland?  Because the safety considerations and whatnot --


MS. CIPOLLA:  Of course, those are always in play.  What I would say is certainly for the large projects where we're waiting for the decision, those are the ones that cause the lumpiness or significant components of the lumpiness.  I think you naturally are going to see some puts and takes over the years, as we've already spoken to, but I don't envision that we're going to have such significant changes like we have seen previously.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could we turn to page 120, please.  These may be questions for panel 2, but they are capital-related, so I'm going to try them on you and we will see where we get.

These are just some of your scorecard measure descriptions you will see set out at the bottom of the table.  And I understand that some of the performance-based incentives for Toronto Hydro's named executives are tied to these scorecard measures.  Are you aware of that?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  So I just want to under understand what they're showing.  If we look at the one on page 120, the 2015 Toronto Hydro regulated capital, does this metric just simply track how much is spent on cap ex?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  In 2015, this measure does specifically looking at elements of our capital program and the spend around those.

MR. MILLAR:  So to the extent the incentives are tied to this, the incentive is tied, at least to some extent, on simply how much money is spent on cap ex.  Is that what that is showing?

MS. CIPOLLA:  What I would say is, yes, in the context of 2015, there's an element of capital that was being captured.  And as you will see on to page 2 of this undertaking, the evolution of our scorecard and the way in which we've looked at it once we received the decision and the consideration of how we've implemented that.

So as you look into the later years, particularly into 2018 and 2019, with the decision we were able to effectively understand our plan and what that meant over executing a 5-year plan, and then in the individual years the execution to the plan.

So there's a maturity you will see as you look at those as those considerations.

MR. MILLAR:  That was my next question, because it is worded slightly differently for 2016-2017 and then 2018 and 2019, as you see there.

But again, is this measure -- it's tracking how much money you spend.  Is that what it is tracking?  It's not a value assessment as such.  At least for this particular metric, it is how many dollars were spent.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  This capital KPI is actually tied to our work plan and the execution around that work plan, and that does tie back to the plan of which the execution tied back to the actual application.  But it is tied back to our execution and us meeting that plan.

MR. MILLAR:  But meeting that plan by spending the dollars in that plan?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Spending -- so cap ex dollars is an element of the way in which an operate -- an organization may operate.  So if I may, what I would say is our operations groups, our engineers, the organization understands capital spend because that's them going out into the field and operating and executing through the program.

From a funding point of view, obviously we in finance and the executive team and the management team understand that we're funded on the capital requirements basis, understand we are funded through ISAs.  So it is our job to translate that into that nature of a number.

But the organization as a whole, when you have a corporate KPI, it is about understanding it as a whole and making it understood for employees.  So as a result, the capital dollars is what they're executing out. So that is tied to the spend.  That is tied to their plan.

But in-house, that is tied to the ISAs, it is tied to the capital revenue requirement; we bring that together.  Does that explain it?

MR. MILLAR:  I am sure it does, but I am a bit dim, so I didn't follow all of it.  Let me try to dumb it down for me.

If the work plan has $100 million, is this measure tracking did you spend $100 million?  And I understand there is a bunch of other things that is considered.  That is not the only element of executive pay, but is that what this is measuring?  Is that how they decide if they get this part of the bonus or not?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  But what I would say is that it is tied to a plan.  So that 100 million would have been hypothetically in a situation for 15 projects. And in that year we needed to execute out 15 projects, and did we spend the money on those 15 projects.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is tied to actual projects as well?

MS. CIPOLLA:  It's a plan.  So when I speak to the capital plan, is tied to that capital plan.  But it is being measured based on dollars.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But if you spent -- in our theoretical example, if you spend $100 million, but it was not on elements in that plan, say only $60 million of it was in that plan, but they spent 100 million overall, would they have reached that target or not?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps, Mr. Millar, if I can provide some context from an operations perspective?  Every year in the fourth quarter of a given year, what we would do is set the work program for the following year.

At that same time, what we would also do is we would set our measures and the targets associated with those measures.  So inextricably, those two things are tied.

What you are drawing our attention to here is the macro level indicator, the macro level KPI we use to track that.  But ultimately what underlies this is the work program that we're seeking to execute in a given year.

MR. MILLAR:  The work program underlies it, but is that what it's measuring, whether they executed the dollars that were identified in the work plan?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  So the work program is, as we have got in -- in the distribution system plan, we have a series of programs.  Those programs are to be funded at certain levels.  Each of those programs would be made up of a series of projects in a given year.

So we would know which projects are in that given year's work program and we would be looking to execute upon those.

Now, naturally within a given year, and as we have spoken about before, there are changes that occur to work programs within years, and we've spoken a lot about the execution challenges that we have within a dense and urban city such as Toronto  So there are puts and takes within a year.

But generally speaking, all of that is tied together, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I don't want to harp on this for too much longer.  But if the plan changes during the year, but you still spend the allotted amount of dollars, you would hit your target, right?  Like you don't go back at the end of the year and say this was our program originally and it was going to spend $100 million or whatever it was, but there was some changes to the program over the year.  Would they still get their -- would they still hit that target?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  What we do through the year at least once in the year, we will reforecast a work program and we typically do that at the mid point of the year.  So there is an entire governance process associated with making changes to a work program.

So if there is spend -- so if there are changes in the program itself and people are spending in accordance with that, then yes, they would get credit for it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Can we talk about allowance for funds used during construction?  And in this light, maybe we can turn -- I think it is around page -- well, let's go to page 122 of the compendium and the elegant acronym AFUDC is what we use for this, which is allowance for funds used during construction.

First, you can confirm that you are permitted to recover your cost of debt con, your cost of debts during construction through your AFUDC.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  That's correct.  The only thing I would add is that we have criteria around that it would only relate to significant projects and only over six months.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure, okay.  And the debt rate you propose to use is 4.2 percent?  And I think that is at page 125 of the compendium.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  What is that debt rate?  How is that derived?

MS. CIPOLLA:  So as we noted on compendium 123 beginning on row 22, we talk about our calculation of AFUDC and that it is based on the weighted average cost of borrowing.

MR. MILLAR:  So could we turn to page 126?  If you look at line 3 here, Toronto Hydro's weighted average cost of debt is 3.64 percent, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, I believe this table is done based on the last Board-approved year.  So that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess what I am trying to get at is why is the debt rate you are proposing 4.2 percent, and the number we have here for the 2020 test year is 3.64 percent?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Mr. Millar, if I may, I would like to take this back and just take a look at it, if I may.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we can take an undertaking for that.

MS. CIPOLLA:  That would be great, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  It is to explain the difference between the debt rates of 3.64 percent and 4.2 percent.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO EXPLAIN THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE DEBT RATES OF 3.64 PERCENT AND 4.2 PERCENT.

MR. MILLAR:  Can we go to page 129, please?  Just a couple of questions about your custom scorecard.

You see that set out at table 1.  If we flip to the next page where it continues, I have some questions about the financial metrics.  So you have financial and then under "cost control" two measures, average wood pole replacement cost and vegetation management cost per kilometre.  And you see the target there is to monitor those metrics.  Is that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Could we turn to page 134, please?  This was actually a question from Mr. Stephenson at the technical conference.

You will see at line 14 you are talking about, you know, data you have with respect to average wood pole replacement costs, and if you look down at Table 1 it looks like you have data with respect to those replacements from 2014 through 2018?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So why couldn't that information be used to form a baseline for your scorecard?  So instead of monitoring you would actually be tracking your costs against your historic actuals?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think there's two reasons for that.  The first reason is, this particular measure when you are looking at unit costs, there is volatility naturally from one year to the next, and the advice that we have received from our consultant UMS is that it's most appropriate to use a multi-year average.

In this particular case we have selected a three-year average.  It would probably be better to use a five-year average.  So at this point in time what we don't have is five consecutive three-year averages to do that.

The second reason why it is not appropriate at this point in time is, this is a relatively new framework for Toronto Hydro.  We are implementing it, and one example is we don't know how the volatility, for example, will influence positively or negatively this particular measure and its effectiveness.

So because of those two reasons, we are unable at this point in time to set a base line that we think would be appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  So at the time of the interrogatory -- pardon me, the technical-conference undertaking response, you had five years of data, correct 2014 through 2018?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  At the time of the technical conference, yes, we had the same data that is actually in the technical-conference response there on the bottom of page 134.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  It will be 2024 before you are finished with this case.  You will have a lot more data, obviously, as the years go by, you will have more data and you will get your -- what was it you wanted?  Three years of three-year averages?  Three sets of three-year averages?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We are looking for five years of three-year averages, and that is simply to be consistent with the methodology that we have put forward for all of our measures.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I understand your answer.

Can we talk about vegetation management?  Again, you are proposing there to monitor that.

Wouldn't you have many years of data with respect to your vegetation management costs?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we would.

MR. MILLAR:  So why can't you put in a number there to track instead of simply monitoring?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Again, this is a new framework that we have adopted very recently, so we don't have experience with it, and we don't have experience with each and every one of the measures.

There are different inputs that can go into it, so for example, with vegetation management it is a program that is contracted out.  So it is subject to market forces.

Every time we go out to the market -- and we will be going to the market, I believe, subject to check, later this year -- we don't always know what we will be getting back from market participants.

So that might be one reason for us to pause or is one reason for us to pause and ensure that before we set a baseline we fully understand all of the variables, fully understand this particular framework, and be able to use it in a way that is most appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  There is not a data issue here, though, like for the wood poles.  You would have data going back many, many years, I assume, on your cost per kilometre for vegetation management?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  For vegetation management we do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the problem is that this is a -- well, first market -- you contract out a lot of things, right?  You pay market rates for all sort of things.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that wouldn't necessarily mean you don't monitor it or for that -- you wouldn't just say just because something is subject to market forces the only thing we will ever do is monitor it.  I think if I heard you correctly maybe in the next case you would be proposing to put in some, if not targets, but a base line or something to measure against?  Or --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In the next case that would be something we would consider, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Why would that be different?  Like, what's going to change in five years for that?  I do understand with the poles there may be a data issue.  But here you have got the data.  What is to stop you from putting in a baseline number now?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, it's an entirely new framework.  And in particular, would it be fair for Toronto Hydro to set a specific target with respect to a new framework that we haven't fully had experience with?  And the example that I gave is just one example.  There is likely others that I don't have top of mind at this point in time.  It just simply wouldn't be fair for us to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  By framework do you mean like the scorecard?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I mean the UMS unit cost framework.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, okay.  All right.  Well, thank you for your answer on that.

Let me move on.  Can we turn to page 136, please.  This is a chart that is almost exclusively for panel 3, but we just had a single depreciation question for you.

This is a chart we'll be talking about later.  It is simply data pulled from the yearbook and the RRR filings related to all of the different utilities and their depreciation, et cetera.

My question really is not much about this chart, but if you scroll down to where Toronto Hydro is, and if you go across -- it is a little hard to see, and you can take this subject to check if you like.  But I'm just -- the actual depreciation expense recorded -- and this was taken from the RRRs -- is 192 million for 2015, and then 225 for 2016, 228 for 2017, and 241 for 2018.

Our question was, this is simply the data filed by Toronto Hydro with the RRRs.  If you go to page 137 of the compendium -- this is taken straight from this application -- the depreciation and amortization expense we see here doesn't match the numbers that we pulled from the RRRs, and that is true even if you include the derecognition expense, which is on the next page.

And we simply wanted to ask the panel in charge of depreciation why that might be.  It may be something that you need to undertake?  I also want to be clear, we are not suggesting anything has been done improperly here.  This is not to say the RRRs were wrong or this number is wrong or anything.  We assume there is a reason why those numbers don't match, and we just, we were curious as to what that might be.  Again, my guess is that is probably more appropriate for an undertaking, but if you happen to know off the top of your head, that's fine too.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Mr. Millar, so on page 136, the depreciation that you see is depreciation as presented in IFRS, where we show the depreciation on gross capital assets.

So any amortization on capital contributions in IFRS, it does not get presented under regular depreciation.  It goes towards other income.

However, on page 137, we have presented depreciation, including amortization of capital contributions, because for rate-making purposes we do need to account for capital contributions in the depreciation piece of that calculation, if that helps.  So derecognition is included in page 136.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  And -- yes.  But not capital contribution amortization.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Sorry, just to make sure I got that straight, it does include derecognition.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Page 136.  But not the capital contributions?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  Not the amortization on that.

MR. MILLAR:  Not the amortization -- pardon me, yes, but the amortization associated with the capital contributions?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The numbers on the chart on page 136 appear to be lower than the numbers reported -- pardon me, higher, the other way around, higher than those reported.

And if the -- we have been doing math on the fly and it now makes sense to us.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that's very helpful.  Thank you so much.

And I think those are all of my questions.  So thank you for your time.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

I just want to do a check-in on our hearing plan for today.  I guess there were some slight changes.  I believe GTAA is next.  Then we move to BOMA, who is not yet here.  And then to Energy Probe.  Is that correct?

I just wanted to check in.  We're a smidgen ahead of time, which -- and I am -- we are mindful it is the Friday before a long weekend, but we normally like to forge on ahead.

Can I assume that the undertaking that Mr. Rubenstein asked for, Table 7 and 8 have not yet been provided to him, and therefore he can't -- could he proceed if he has seen it?  I am looking at him.  Or is that more appropriate for Wednesday?

MR. KEIZER:  We should be able to update you on the status of that at the break.

MS. ANDERSON:  At the break?  Okay.  I guess you haven't seen it, so you don't know how long you would need to look at it?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Exactly.

MS. ANDERSON:  That's correct.  And do you have an estimate of -- if we were early and wanted to fit something in, how long you have on cross-examination?  You haven't seen the numbers yet, but...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Me either.  It may be shorter or longer, I guess depending on what's happened.  Assuming there are not just they're very minor changes, I would prefer to have the weekend to look at the numbers.

MS. ANDERSON:  I am just checking in on scheduling.  Yes, we want to move on ahead.  So next is Mr. Quinn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel, and good morning to Toronto Hydro.  We met at the technical conference.

I am Dwayne Quinn, and I am here on behalf of the Greater Toronto Apartment Association.  As you know, I will be pursuing the issue of Toronto Hydro's proposed change to charge customers for access to hydro vaults inside a building for which Toronto Hydro holds the key.

So that is the scope of what I intend to discuss with you this morning.  But I did submit a compendium, and I thought I would ask Mr. Millar if it was an appropriate time to mark it as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  GTAA COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MR. QUINN:  I've distributed copies to Toronto Hydro.  Does the witness panel have that with them?  Thank you.

If we could turn to page 2, this is interrogatory 4A, GTAA-5.  The core issue here, as you may remember from the technical conference, is the vaults are equipped to have a heat detector in the vault.

Now, when we asked the question of Toronto Hydro in the original interrogatories about the -- well, I will just read the question.
"Please provide Toronto Hydro's perspective on the purpose of a heat detector in the vault."


And your answer was:
"As part of the vault owner's obligation to ensure the vault complies with all applicable laws and regulations, vault owners must assess whether their vaults comply with applicable fire codes and regulations," and it goes on from there.

In our view, I guess, this is not -- shouldn't be questionable.  So I have attached on the next few pages, page 4 is just the front page of the Ontario Fire Code.

And on page 5, if you read down to the second-last section called "transformer vaults", do you see that?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So it reads:
"Transformer vaults to which the Electricity Act 1998 applies shall be separated from the remainder of the building by fire separation having a fire resistance rating of not less than two hours, and shall be provided with heat detectors connected to the fire alarm system."


So I read that as an imperative for transformer vaults to have a heat detector.  Do I have that right?

MR. TAKI:  I think that is a fair interpretation.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  I would like to qualify that, though. You're asking the witness to interpret a regulation for which he's not an expert, in terms of law or legalities.  So he can look at it on its face and agree, but it doesn't necessarily mean that it is interpreted in all of its ramifications or how it may be applied.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But as an engineer, are engineers required to interpret codes for the application to their system designs?  Is that part of your role, Mr. Taki?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, as part of my responsibilities, I do have an understanding of codes related to Toronto Hydro's responsibility as a distributor.

This is the Fire Code and the responsibilities of transformer vaults owned by customers, and it is the responsibility of the customer.  And it is their responsibility to understand and interpret the Fire Code as it applies to the assets that they own.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for that.  At the risk of asking more broadly, if you turn over to page 6 then, if you read under, in the middle of the page, fire alarm systems:
"Except as provided for in sentence two, a fire alarm system with or without voice communication capability shall be inspected and tested in conformance with the Canadian ULC-S536 inspection and testing of fire alarm systems."


Do you see that there?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And in your role as engineer, do you look at these Canadian ULC standards for testing of fire alarm systems?

MR. KEIZER:  I think at most Mr. Taki can respond as to what Toronto Hydro does.  I don't think he is here as a professional engineer, other than as a representative of Toronto Hydro.  So I am not sure that the question is appropriately directed.

If it is about what Toronto Hydro's policy is, I think that that is something the witness may answer.  If he can't, then we would have to find out.

MR. QUINN:  Can we find out?

MR. TAKI:  Can you repeat your question, Mr. Quinn, please?

MR. QUINN:  What I was asking is, in your role as -- forgive me, I don't have your CV in front of me.  But you are director of?

MR. TAKI:  Standards and technical studies.

MR. QUINN:  Standards and technical studies.  So in your role, do you or your staff have reason to review codes and standards as they apply to facilities that you are designing?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And do those standards include Canadian ULC standards?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, as they would be applicable to our distribution assets.

MR. QUINN:  So I am looking for a simple response from your professional experience  When we read that a UL listed smoke detector must be used to conduct annual sensitivity testing of smoke detectors, I read that as an annual requirement, not a discretionary item.

MR. KEIZER:  Again, this is about the application and interpretation of the regulation.  So if he is asking about what Toronto Hydro does with their distribution assets and their codes and policies, that's fine.  But if he is asking him to read the regulation and interpret it, I don't think it is an appropriate question.

MR. QUINN:  I will accept the limitation on the direct interpretation, and I will try it this way.

If a building owner were to read that and his professional opinion, or those people working for him suggests -- not suggest, but read this as an imperative that there must be annual testing of heat detectors in the vault, does Toronto Hydro see that testing being of benefit to the customer and to Toronto Hydro for the protection of the equipment in that vault?

MR. TAKI:  While the main benefits of heat detection in transformer vaults are to the owners of those vaults, there is some -- there could be some benefit to Toronto Hydro's assets, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And what would that benefit be?

MR. TAKI:  I think we've talked to this, Mr. Quinn, in one of the interrogatories.

MR. QUINN:   For the benefit of this panel, could you summarize the benefit as you see it to the Toronto Hydro equipment in the vault?

MR. TAKI:  We've described in those interrogatories the various failure mechanisms of assets in vaults, and there are certain failure mechanisms where -- that are related to heat.

MR. QUINN:  And so the heat detector is an early sentry which allows for an investigation of the state of the equipment in the vault?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, can I just interject for a moment?

One thing Mr. Quinn hasn't highlighted in his questions, and maybe we could, is that he's indicated at the beginning that he was exploring the issue of the vault access and any charge with respect to the vault access.

Toronto Hydro indicated at the technical conference that it wasn't pursuing that at this time.  So I am not sure what the materiality or the relevance of the exploration of this aspect in particular has to this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair, I can address that if you'd like.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, thank you, because we did see in the technical conference that they weren't pursuing it, so perhaps help us out here.

MR. QUINN:  And we attempted, prior to the hearing, to reach some form of understanding and settlement with Toronto Hydro to get a commitment of ongoing willingness to provide that free inspection -- free access for our clients for the inspection service.

Subsequently, and hearing that they have evolved -- in my package there's the three evolutions that we have seen of that standard over this last six months or so -- I have asked the question.  They say at this time -- they're not pursuing at this time.

And what we will address later on is they put money back into their rates to affect this position, but I have asked for them -- their willingness to make a statement that they will not be changing this condition inside of this IRM period, for which I have not been able to get a firm commitment from Toronto Hydro.  They want to reserve their right to change it at a subsequent time.

So our concern is if they put money back into the rates, they have stated that they want to reserve the right to change it.  What ability does my client have to bring back to this Board for their review the -- is it appropriate for Toronto Hydro to be able to change its mind on the standards as early as next year and leaving us without potential recourse.

So that is why we have brought it up and brought it into this hearing, hoping to try to get a commitment from Toronto Hydro that this is a situation of mutual benefit which, with their commitment, we would be thankful and appreciative and would step back from the proceeding.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Keizer, it is a five-year term for this, and so I think it is fair to know what the intention is throughout the term, given I think it was a rate that was being sought to charge customers.

So I guess, can we get clarity on what the plan is throughout the term, or is it -- is this something for the test year and then we're not sure subsequent to that?

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe Ms. Coban could address the Toronto Hydro position directly.

MS. COBAN:  So just to clarify, Madam Chair, we are not proposing -- we were not proposing a rate for this service.  This is a service that would have been charged on a fully allocated cost basis, in terms of the cost.

With respect to your question about the commitment over the five-year period, it is our understanding that in the normal course, changes to the conditions of service, there is a process through which those changes are made in the normal course, and we've been following that process in terms of communicating with our customers those changes every year and following the Board's requirements in that regard.

So we would proceed to stay the course in terms of how we deal with those changes, to reflect the operational flexibility that we need over the rate period to make changes that may be necessary to respond to certain circumstances over that period.

So it is difficult for us to make a commitment and depart from that standard practice that we've been following for a number of years.

MS. ANDERSON:  So if I could recap, you consider this a conditions-of-service matter, not a rate matter.  Is that what you are saying?

MS. COBAN:  Correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, understood.  So is, Mr. Quinn, this a matter for argument at this stage?  I mean, what more do we need?

MR. QUINN:  What I am trying to understand -- and I was expecting -- attempting to have a clear statement that this is a rate matter because they are putting money back into rates, which would not be pulled back out if they changed their mind at a subsequent time, and yet they would start charging our members for this service, when clearly all we would have is the opportunity to make comment on the conditions of service, but that doesn't have any opportunity to bring this back to the Board to say, well, is this a matter that the Board should be speaking into, because it is change of condition of service, which impacts ratemaking and rates charged to customers.

MS. ANDERSON:  So we have the statement of Toronto Hydro's position.  I guess that is -- I am back to the question of, is this a matter for argument, what other questions do we need out of Toronto Hydro at this point?

MR. GARNER:  Madam Chair, I don't want to interject, but may I?  I have a submission on the same thing.  We have issues in respect to the issue of the conditions of service containing what we consider sometimes to be rates and what Toronto Hydro sometimes has considered conditions of service.  So it seems to me at least insofar as Mr. Quinn
-- because we may do the same -- has questions in relation to how that becomes a rate or how it is charged and those aspects, it seems to me that is quite legitimate to that question for exploration, and we would be seeking the same.

So I would just like to put that forward.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, I think the Panel agrees that that is in scope, you know, as far as getting information to make an argument on this matter before us.  But we do have their statement of what the position is.  So if it's more along the lines of what Mr. Garner is saying, those questions appear to be in scope.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What I -- with your leave -- would propose to do is I can look at my cross-examination.  I am going to have to change a fair amount of it and come back.  I need an opportunity to at least put in front of the witness panel some information that they haven't seen before, that is outside of this proceeding, on the incident which created this need for the inspection.

MR. KEIZER:  So maybe, Madam Chair, if your ruling is that the point of focus is whether this is -- and it is, I think, an element of argument, that is this something for conditions of service or is this something that is in respect of a rate, it's not this panel, I think, that is in the best position to do that.  I think there is -- panel 2 is probably the better place to place those questions, if that's the aspect that is left with respect to the cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  So if you could give me a minute to confer with my fellow panelists here; this is not something we have discussed specifically.  So I just want to make sure that we're all in agreement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could make a submission, because my client has an interest in the vault issue specifically, as there are a number of schools that have these vaults, and I was going to leave the questioning to my friend generally on this issue.

The concern I don't want to find ourselves in at the argument stage is, if the Board -- we make arguments that this is really a rate issue, not a condition-of-service issue, and the Board agrees that it is a rate issue, is there then a factual determination -- if there's ability to provide facts to make an argument that then even if it is a rate issue you shouldn't charge it or --


MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, there is no rate, because we're not at this point in time choosing to charge.  There is neither a charge nor a rate, because we're not choosing to do that.  So explorations about what the benefit is, how it is shared, what should the rate be or what shouldn't be it and why should it exist, it is not part of the current proposal that Toronto Hydro has before the Board.

So the element that my friends are reaching for I think is really an element to the point of argument, and that, I think, is -- so in terms of this panel, exploration of the nature of what was previously proposed and is no longer proposed I don't think is currently relevant in the proceeding.

MS. ANDERSON:  The challenge, of course, is that this is a five-year rate application, and so, yes, there is nothing before us in this proceeding, but given -- you know, depending on the determination, are there implications for rates during this five-year period.  That is, I think, the issue.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think if this -- if you proceed along the process that ultimately you're considering what the nature of a charge of this kind of charge in the future would be, I mean, that is, I think, the point of the argument, because at this point in time there would be nothing coming out of this proceeding, given the current position of Toronto Hydro that would say we've had -- made a decision on this or not.

It's to my friends to argue as to how things could or should be treated during the IR -- during the remaining four-year periods of the term, but at the same time Toronto Hydro will make its own positions known at that time as part of argument.

But to the extent it is a regulatory policy question, I think it is probably best directed to panel 2, not necessarily to this panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  I would like to take five with my panel.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  So we will be back.
--- Recess taken at 10:25 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:30 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Yes, thank you.  So we have heard what you have said and listened to it, and we have concluded for this particular panel, that questions of what benefits there might be to Toronto Hydro's system for inspections are within scope and we would like to hear them.

We agree that panel 2 is perhaps the better panel, as suggested by Mr. Keizer, to hear questions that are related to whether things are better dealt with as -- through the conditions of service, whether there's questions of whether something is charged through time and materials or whether they are rates.

And I think those are questions that sound like they could be put to panel 2.  Is that what I heard from you going in?  So I think those are in scope.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Quinn, how does that do for you and your cross?

MR. QUINN:  First off, thank you for your consideration of our concerns.  I would like to review my cross and for the efficiency of the Board, I can go later this morning.  If someone else would like to stand in the gap in the meantime, if somebody would like to do that, then I would take the time during the break to review my cross and try to find those questions.  I may ask a question and have it kicked to panel 2, in which case I'd come back.

I didn't identify it, Madam Chair,  but I actually need to be in Calgary next week.  But I work with staff and I think the way they have it scheduled, I should be back by Thursday next week, which would hopefully provide me a chance to address panel 2.

Your schedule is more important than mine.  I would make the accommodation I need to.

MS. ANDERSON:  I guess one of the challenges we have
-- don't see Mr. Brett in the house and he was scheduled to go next.

I think after that was going to be Mr. Ladanyi.  Are you ready to proceed?  It is a little earlier than you expected.

MR. LADANYI:  I am ready to proceed.

MS. ANDERSON:  Excellent.  So we are happy to do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  If I might just have a minute to get my handouts ready?

MS. ANDERSON:  Absolutely, understood.

[Mr. Ladanyi distributes Energy Probe compendium.]


MR. LADANYI:  Madam Chair, I think we are ready to go on the first exhibit.  Thank you for this opportunity to go earlier.

What I would like to mention, however, is Energy Probe will have to split its examination of panel 1 because my associate, Dr. Roger Higgin, is not here today.  He will be here Wednesday morning to ask questions about reliability.

MR. MILLAR:  We have a number of documents, Madam Chair.  I don't know anything about them, so I am not marking them until they are introduced.

MR. LADANYI:  Actually, I sent out a few days ago to all of the parties a number of exhibits which I said I would be referring to in this proceeding.

The first one is an article from the Globe and Mail.  It says "Sidewalk Labs' proposed plan for Toronto waterfront -- Everything You Need to Know."


And you should have it.  It is dated June 24th, 2019.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2: ARTICLE FROM GLOBE AND MAIL

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  The next one is an article from Now Magazine.

MR. LADANYI:  And that is dated May 2nd, 2019.  It says "Google's private transit power play in Portlands".

MR. MILLAR:  That is 2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  ARTICLE FROM NOW MAGAZINE.


MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, did Toronto Hydro not have that one?

MR. KEIZER:  Counsel's table doesn't have it. I don't know about the witnesses.

MR. LADANYI:  I asked Board Staff to help me because I was running out of time.

MR. KEIZER:  They have held back on their duties.

[Laughter]

MR. LADANYI:  It will be in my argument.

[Laughter]

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And another one that I have as an exhibit is a series of graphs from Environment Canada called "Trend turndowns" in French, Toronto city, Ontario 6158355, which as I understand it is the Toronto weather station and it looks like one single sheet, a paper with a bunch of graphs on it.

MR. MILLAR:  K \2.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  SERIES OF ENVIRONMENT CANADA GRAPHS.


MR. LADANYI:  The last one is a letter from the environment minister, Catherine McKenna, to Robert Muir.  You should have that as well.

MR. MILLAR:  That is K2.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  LETTER FROM ENVIRONMENT MINISTER TO ROBERT MUIR

MR. LADANYI:  So I sent these out originally on Monday to Toronto Hydro and the parties, so that they would have time to familiarize themselves with these documents and think about it.  Did I mention -- I'm sorry, there's too much paper.  There is the last one, yes.  I apologize.

It is a PowerPoint presentation entitled: "IDF, trend analysis, future climate projections and system design for extreme weather resiliency", by Robert J. Muir, and it is dated May 1st, 2019.

MR. MILLAR:  K2.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  POWERPOINT PRESENTATION BY ROBERT J. MUIR DATED MAY 1ST, 2019

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, just also, just a note, I know my other colleagues have provided compendiums.  Mr. Ladanyi hasn't, which is no problem with respect to the exhibits he is referring to in evidence.  It just may take our witnesses a little bit longer to find some of the things that Mr. Ladanyi is referring to.  Just for your indulgence.  Thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  So can I start now?  So first the Globe & Mail article, which was Exhibit -- again, Mr. Millar, which one was it?  Sorry?

MR. MILLAR:  K2.2.

MR. LADANYI:  K2.2.  In that article, if you turn to page 2 of 7, and you will see on that article the location of the facilities.  It is more clear in the electronic copy which is on the screen.

Do you see that, panel?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  So this is within the area served by Toronto Hydro; isn't that right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  And I need you to turn to the next page in the article, and it is again unfortunately clearer in the electronic copy, and it shows something called the advanced power grid.  And it mentions -- there it is -- two alternatives, I guess, for the smaller area, $100 million, and for the larger area, $510 million.  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Was Toronto Hydro aware that Sidewalk Labs is contemplating something called advanced power grid in this area?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sidewalk Labs has approached us and spoken to us about this, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  And so did you approve these numbers?  Or you have reviewed them, or these are just very rough numbers?  What are these things?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In particular for the two articles, the Now magazine, the Globe & Mail, I have not reviewed them prior to just seeing them at this point in time.

MR. LADANYI:  So nobody showed them to you when I sent them out on Monday?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I have seen all of the other documents that you sent out except for these two.

MR. LADANYI:  Has anybody in the panel actually read these documents since Monday?

MR. TAKI:  I also received the other documents.  Not these two articles.

MR. LADANYI:  So -- but I did send them.  I can send you the e-mail.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair, there is a lot of documents that were in play.  So apparently we did receive the e-mail, but I guess it didn't find its way --


MR. LADANYI:  Well, actually, it doesn't -- you know, I am just going to refer in this particular case, let's go with document by document and see where we go.

Does Toronto Hydro have an agreement with Sidewalk Labs?  Let's start like this.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I ask, though, the relevance of this, first of all?  Does this have some foundational basis as to how this fits within the context of the current application?

MS. ANDERSON:  I think that would help, Mr. Ladanyi, as to kind of --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, thank you.  I believe that this is -- these are investments that are contemplated within Toronto Hydro's area.  They seem to be in the time frame of this application, as far as I can tell.  And maybe Toronto Hydro can correct me.

Are they in the Distribution System Plan?  If they're not, you can let us know that you will need to update it at some future date.

I think these are some costs that the ratepayers at some point in time, perhaps in the time frame again of this application, will be asked to pay for.  So I think this is of significant relevance.  We can't ignore it.  The public is concerned about these things.

MR. KEIZER:  So as I understand Mr. Ladanyi's question, the question he is asking is:  Is this something that is contemplated within the DSP that is currently before the Board?

MS. ANDERSON:  I think that is a relevant question, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Is it contemplated within the DSP?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So Sidewalk Labs and the proposed investments that they're looking to make at Quayside there would be a customer connection for Toronto Hydro.

So it is contemplated in the sense that we have a customer connection program that is a generic program, in the sense of specifically what Sidewalk Labs is considering doing, how they would like to be connected to Toronto Hydro's system, and the cost estimates that are here, those are not contemplated in the Distribution System Plan.

MR. LADANYI:  At all?  So suppose it happens during the time over the next couple of years.  What would happen next?  Can you explain to me what would be the course of events that would happen?  Would they come to you, then you would need some money, then you would go to the OEB and ask for money?  Is that what you would do?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  As Mr. Millar asked some questions yesterday about our customer connections program and how we forecast expenditures for that program, what we would do, that program, we fully expect that there is going to be variability and volatility from one year to the next, based on demands from customers.

This particular customer would come and tell us that they would like to connect one, two, three, some number of buildings to Toronto Hydro's system.  They would tell us that they would have a preference for how that would be connected, whether it would be a dual radial connection, a network system connection.  We would then estimate how much that would cost, and it would all factor through our offer-to-connect process, which is described or is encompassed in our customer connection program in section E of the distribution system plan.

MR. LADANYI:  So as of today, you have no agreement whatsoever with Sidewalk Labs?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, Mr. Ladanyi, there is no agreement for a customer connection.

MR. LADANYI:  But is there an agreement of some other kind, for example, of consultation?  Of partnership?  Of public-private partnership?  Not just a simple customer agreement?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I believe there is a non-disclosure agreement, because they have spoken to us about this.  But outside of that agreement I don't believe there is any other agreements in place.

MR. LADANYI:  Do you know what the advanced power grid is?  What is that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sidewalk Labs hasn't spoken to --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  If my friend is going to explore what Sidewalk Labs is doing, I am not sure that it's necessarily for this panel to disclose or discuss, because they're Toronto Hydro, and they have already indicated in an earlier statement just now as to how they would intend to deal with Sidewalk Labs.

So the discussion about what the advanced power grid is or isn't is really something that is Sidewalk Lab's issue, not a Toronto Hydro issue.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, how is this relevant to Toronto Hydro specifically?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I would think because obviously the panel doesn't seem to know a lot, but I would hope they would at least tell us if Sidewalk Labs is going to get some special service that is not available to other customers of Toronto Hydro, is this some kind of preferential service they're discussing here, and is it going to -- is Toronto Hydro at some future date going to be asking OEB to approve large capital expenditures for this?  And will there be some kind of cost-benefit case put forward before the Board?  It is currently just in the newspaper, I can see that.  But the public is concerned, as you probably are aware.

MR. KEIZER:  This is not a proceeding for general enquiry about every aspect that appears in the newspaper.  I mean, this is about what was proposed in this application, in this plan, which the witness has already articulated as to how it would be contemplated and dealt with in the plan, and to the event it is even an eventuality.  If something materializes in the future then obviously that would be something that would be subject to some future regulatory proceeding, I guess, that would happen, but I am not sure that beyond what the witness has indicated that there is really much more to explore with respect to the implications for the DSP in this case.

MR. GARNER:  Madam Chair, may I make a comment?

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  It seems to me that the question raised by Mr. Ladanyi as if there are projects that may be outside the DSP which then could occur within it is quite legitimate.

It seems to me the question that is being explored or the issue that is being explored is whether there are substantive capital programs that exist outside the DSP but could be reasonably contemplated to be inside of it, and that seems to me to be of interest to everybody in the room, if they are significant.  I don't know if they are, but until we hear the end of Mr. Ladanyi's cross, it doesn't seem to me we will know what they are.  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I could just intervene as well.  I note that DRC may have similar considerations as to what is and is not in the DSP and what might be relevant during the time period.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I just want to -- I think, though, the witness has indicated that in the context of this aspect it is a customer connection and it's dealt with in accordance with the DSP.

There seems to be a lot of, you know, assertions that somehow there's massive capital programs that exist that aren't included in the plan.  But I think the witness was very clear in his evidence that they would deal with it within the context of a customer connection program as an external request.

So I am not sure what really the nature of the exploration is that Mr. Garner is asserting, or other people are asserting.  The witness has answered the question.

MR. GARNER:  Well, again if I may, Madam Chair.  One of the questions -- because this isn't a customer, it seems to me, that is being talked about.  It is a development of an area.  It seems to me in some ways part of the question is what is this connection, right?  This is a piece of property being developed inside the city.  It doesn't seem to me it is a singularity, right.

So I think in some ways Mr. Ladanyi's questions are going to that aspect of what exactly it is and how much you know about it.

I mean, if it was as simple as a building and a connection, I guess we could all say is the building going to come up and the building going to be connected, and under what terms.  And again I would say the materiality of that is what is being pursued.

And my friend may be correct.  Maybe there is not in the end much materiality to it.  But I think that is what he is exploring, in part at least.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I think it is fair to ask questions about major projects that may impact Toronto Hydro within the term, so up till 2024.

You seem to be, Mr. Ladanyi, asking questions about the sidewalk project itself within that, and I think maybe that -- I think that is a little unrealistic to expect them to be able to answer about, you know, the customer's project regardless of, I guess, who the customer is.

So can you focus on just the impact to Toronto Hydro if something moves ahead, and what they know about it at this stage?

I am just looking at the article, too, it says that only construction would begin in 2023 and the move-in date is 2027.  Our window here ends in 2024.  So we certainly want to focus on what is relevant within our term.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Can I proceed?  Maybe I will try it differently.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  The reason I asked about the advanced power grid is because it seems to me that within Toronto Hydro's franchise area, a large chunk will be carved out and have some kind of a different grid put in that is not elsewhere.

It is not a normal customer connection, as Mr. Garner has pointed out.  This is really quite different.  And it would be nice to know a little bit about it.  And I also think investments to get this going, if it gets approved, which it may not, will be happening in the time frame of this Distribution System Plan.

So I am not expecting the witnesses to give me a detailed analysis but perhaps kind of a preview and say whether this is going to come later on before the Board for a specific approval.  I don't really know.  I don't know what's being contemplated.

And it would be nice if I mean we knew what Toronto Hydro had in mind.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the witness, in the context of the DSP, has given the information about how it would be typically treated and what the contemplation is within the context of the plan.

If my friend is talking about regulatory issues, or regulatory policy-related issues arising from this project, then I don't think that this is the appropriate panel for those questions.

If I could take a moment, I could confer and be able to advise where the appropriate panel would be.

MS. ANDERSON:  The way I understood the response -- and please confirm -- is that this is dealt with just like any other connection.  And I guess that is perhaps an appropriate thing I wouldn't mind hearing.

Is it just a connection, or are you contemplating something that might be unique about this within the term?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Let me take a step back and maybe provide a little bit of context here.

So, yes, absolutely this will be dealt with through the customer connections program using the offer to connect process.  There will be no differences in that regard.

Mr. Ladanyi does mention that this is a larger site.  For Toronto Hydro, this isn't a larger site.  We heard in the news yesterday about Oxford Properties and a very sizeable development that is being planned just north of the Rogers Centre.

So these type of large sites, large developments within the City of Toronto are quite common for us.

Specifically with what the customer would like to do or how they would like to be connected, they have shared some very high level objectives with us.  But they haven't come and told us this is exactly the type of connection we would like, this is how we would like it done.  All of that will occur through the customer connection process.

MR. LADANYI:  I can leave it at that and go to my next item.

So if you can turn to Exhibit EB -- sorry, Exhibit M2- EP-2C, appendix B, which is an interrogatory response from DRC, and I am particularly looking at the membership list of Cutric.

Appendix B, the list of members, which shows by the way that Toronto Hydro is a member of Cutric, and I wanted you to confirm that.  It is M2-EP-2C.  You can just -- yes, here it is, thank you.

If you look at the column under Utilities, you will see Toronto Hydro there.  Can you see it?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't have direct knowledge about Cutric and our membership, or Cutric -- our involvement with Cutric.

I do see on this particular document that it does list Toronto Hydro as part of the member list as of April 2019.

MR. LADANYI:  Do you know what Cutric stands for?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I can't tell you what the acronym stands for.

MR. LADANYI:  I will read it to you.  It stands for Canadian Urban Transit Research and Innovation Consortium.

And then if you turn to the Now article, which is Exhibit -- Mr. Millar, which exhibit is that?

MR. MILLAR:  2.3.

MR. LADANYI:  K2.3.  So there are a number of statements attributed to the director of Cutric, Dr. Petrunic, who apparently will be appearing later on as a witness in this case.

And Dr. Petrunic, I understand, is on the advisory committee for Sidewalk Labs.  So there is a connection between Sidewalk Labs and Toronto Hydro.  You are a member of an organization that is part of essentially Sidewalk Labs inner group, somebody from Toronto Hydro, and there is probably more knowledge that somebody at Toronto Hydro has about Sidewalk Labs than any of the panel know.

Is that right?  You don't know who goes to these meetings?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I am still struggling to understand.  You know, Mr. Ladanyi seems to be asserting that somehow there is some relationship between Sidewalk Labs, Cutric, and Toronto Hydro and that somehow that now relates to the matters that are currently before the proceeding.

I don't see the connection, and nor do I see what relationship or what participation Toronto Hydro has with respect to an organization that apparently they're on a membership list for.  So I am struggling to see how this relates to the DSP.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, what was your question again?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I am going to come here -- particularly now Toronto Hydro is a member of an organization that is quoted in this article and perhaps when Ms. Petrucci comes up, we can ask her if she actually said these things.  I wanted to ask Toronto Hydro whether they support what it is in this article and attributed to the directors of an organization they're a member of.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I am wondering if I could intervene?  First and foremost, I think it is very important that we give women and talented professionals  their due.  It is Dr. Petrucci, not Ms. Petrucci.

Secondly, I am happy to refer the court to -- sorry, refer the Panel to the specific interrogatory response, which outlines the very wide and varied nature of the membership of Cutric, and I believe Mr. Ladanyi has already pointed it to you, some 144 members across the sector.

So perhaps if that is being used in an attempt to draw a direct one-to-one relationship with Toronto Hydro and Cutric, he could put that question directly to the panel or alternatively put it directly to Dr. Petrunic.

MR. LADANYI:  I think I said Dr. Petrunic once and I misspoke, I'm sorry.

MS. ANDERSON:  We accept your apology.

So I guess that does seem to be a pretty tenuous link that you are alluding to.  Can you -- is there a very specific question?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, the problem is I don't have an investigation I can conduct here.  All I wanted to do -- I believe -- and perhaps some other people in the room as well -- that there is probably a lot more connection between Sidewalk Labs and Toronto Hydro than we're led to believe.  But nevertheless, we will go with what we have.  I just have one -- can I ask just one more question on this article and I will leave it?

MS. ANDERSON:  We will hear the question.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So on page 3, Dr. Petrunic said at an April 18th conference -- this is the, I guess, third paragraph from the bottom:

"The national effort is aimed at disrupting the utility and transit industries."

So is Toronto Hydro agreeing that utility industries should be disrupted?  Is that what you stand for?  You're a utility.  Do you think utilities should be disrupted?

MS. ANDERSON:  It sounds like a very vague question to me.  I think you need to be specific about in what way.  It just sounds too broad.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I think there's a -- what is going on here is there is some big changes going on, and we're only seeing the tip of the iceberg, and it is very hard to be specific.  By the time I am specific it's going to be all over, all of the decisions will likely be made.  So maybe now is the time to find more about it.

MS. ANDERSON:  And we do have to take this back to -- this is a rate proceeding again for the term 2020 to 2024, and bring the relevance back to that.

So what is the relevance to your question to what is before us here?

MR. LADANYI:  The relevance is that there are cost costs (sic) and consequences being contemplated, probably behind closed doors in meetings, that we are not being party to.  It is not being disclosed to us, that will have cost impacts on the ratepayers of Toronto Hydro.  It is very hard to get this information out in the open.  I am attempting, perhaps not very well, but I am trying my best here.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I don't want to be taken that because we object to the question as to relevance that somehow there is some covert thing going on here that we are not disclosing, and I think that is a wrong assertion, and I think my friend is taking disparate pieces of information and trying to weave them together and to assert something which I think is, you know, tenuous and, quite frankly, for sure irrelevant for the purposes of this proceeding.

If he has questions, though, related to aspects of policy or the policies of Toronto Hydro, I think that those questions would be best directed not to this panel, but maybe to Mr. Sasso on panel 2, assuming that they're relevant enquiries.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I will try that.

So I will move on to something hopefully less controversial, which is the box construction, just to change the pace here.

So if we can go to presentation-day transcript.  And there on page 14 at the bottom, last paragraph, there is a discussion of Gerrard Street, box construction.  And I was in the room when this presentation was given, and at that time we were shown slide nine, renewing the system.

Can I have the slide nine on the screen, please.  Okay.  That is slide nine.  So we were told that that was box construction in the picture.  And I was looking at this.  So can the panel tell me, first, on the bottom left, where is the box construction pole there?  At the right we see at least three different pole lines.  Which one is the one you are referring to as box construction?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So the pole line that you see closest to you, one, two, three, and then it goes off into the distance, where you see multiple cross arms, the very first pole you see four cross arms, that is referred to as box construction.

MR. LADANYI:  The one next to it, what is that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  When you say "next to it" --

MR. LADANYI:  Right next to it.  See the shorter pole, which appears to be three cross arms?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So I am not sure what that is.  It might be a utility distribution line, which has potentially three circuits, but I can't make it out from this particular picture.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, when I looked at that picture I thought -- and perhaps you can correct me -- that actually the tall pole is the Bell Telephone Company of Canada, and Toronto Hydro is actually the short pole.  But you can correct me if you think it is not.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It looks like box construction, very similar to box construction, with multiple cross arms.

MR. LADANYI:  So Bell Canada could be one of those pole lines?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, this is a photograph from 1919.  I am not sure of the relevance of what each pole was in 1919 is in this proceeding today.

MR. LADANYI:  I am trying to understand the photograph.  This was presented as evidence, and I am trying to understand why was it presented to us and what do we conclude from this picture, and then we will go to the picture on the right and the one on the top.

MS. ANDERSON:  Perhaps you can answer this question, what should we conclude from this picture.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  During the presentation day in this particular slide the intention was to illustrate box construction, the fact that it is a very old legacy type of installation, the fact that it poses some significant risks that we are trying to mitigate during this rate period, and the fact that legacy construction on streets such as Gerrard continue to be in existence even today, 100 years since they were constructed.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Let's move to undertaking response U-SEC-100.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, we are just looking at the time for a break.  Where is a natural break?

MR. LADANYI:  This would be a good time to break.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is it?  Okay.  Let's do that now.  We will take 20 minutes.
--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:35 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Okay, we're back.  Mr. Ladanyi, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.

Where we were, we were discussing the box construction poles.  I just have a couple of interrogatories I would like clarification on.

One is U-SEC-100, if you can turn to that.  And there it says that in 2018, 586 poles were replaced.  And if you turn to U-AMPCO-122, it gives a different number for 2018.  It gives a number of 282 poles and maybe you can clarify that.  Maybe perhaps the answers are given on a different basis.

U-AMPCO-112, sorry, 112.  I misspoke.  So the AMPCO -- the answer in AMPCO is 282 poles and in 2 SEC, it was 586.  Can you explain the difference?

MR. TAKI:  The number in SEC 100 is related to number of poles replaced through the box construction program, which is a segment of the area conversion program.

In U-AMPCO-112 the number of poles is box construction framed poles, and that is in relation to one of the outcome measures that we've put forward in the application.

MR. LADANYI:  So is box construction frame pole a subset of box construction poles?  Is that what it is?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  Yes, it is.

MR. LADANYI:  What's the other part of the box construction poles?

MR. TAKI:  There could be poles within the box construction on box -- on feeders that have box construction and in projects that are box construction projects that are not framed, that box framing that we saw in the picture prior to the break.

MR. LADANYI:  But they're still called box construction?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  In the context of the area conversion program, those would be called box construction poles, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  I am trying to make sense of this; this is more complicated than I expected.

So framed means that they have, what?  A frame all around, and the other ones have only cross arms, is that what it is?

MR. TAKI:  In the picture by were looking at prior to the break, Mr. Ladanyi, in that picture you saw what a box frame pole looks like.  Essentially, it is the pole with what looks like a box.

So you could see it in the top picture, in the picture on the right.

MR. LADANYI:  Bottom right, as well?  Is that a box-framed pole?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  The ones with only a cross arm but no up and down, let's say, members on the side joined cross arms, that is not framed?

MR. TAKI:  That is also boxed.  What would not -- just give me a moment.  I think we have a picture in the program evidence that will help clarify.

In Exhibit 2B, section E6.1 on page 15, you will see there are two pictures in that figure.  On the left is the box framed pole or poles and on the right, the poles that would be to the current standard and they're not boxed.

So that is what the difference would be.

MR. LADANYI:  So the one on the right is not called a box frame pole, is that --


MR. TAKI:  Correct.

MR. LADANYI:  But I am still having difficulty.  So what -- the whole box poles consist of those that are framed and those that are not framed, is that right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that is correct, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  What does a not framed box pole look like?  The one on the right doesn't seem to have any boxes.  It has one cross arm.

MR. TAKI:  No.  So you have two pictures.  In the picture on the left, there are two poles.  Those both are box framed.

MR. LADANYI:  I see that.

MR. TAKI:  The picture on the right, there is one pole.  There is a smaller street light pole.  That distribution pole is not box framed.

MR. LADANYI:  That's right.

MR. TAKI:  So that would be the difference in the two.

MR. LADANYI:  I'm sorry, I am really still puzzled because there is a difference in the answer to the two interrogatories, and I am now ever so more confused.

There appears to me that within that whole population of box poles, there is box framed poles and unframed poles, I guess.

I was hoping that you would show me the difference between the two, but you are not showing me that.  You are showing me another picture ever the framed pole.  So where is the other poles?  What did they look like?

MR. TAKI:  The other poles, as you described them, Mr. Ladanyi, would look like the pole in the picture on the right.

MR. LADANYI:  But that's not box framed at all.  That is not box pole at all.  That's just a pole.

MR. TAKI:  That's what I said.  It is not box framed.  It has circuits on it, it's framed with circuits, but just not as a box.

MR. LADANYI:  Let's go back to the interrogatory.  I am still completely confused.  I'm sorry about that.

In U-SEC-100, the question is about box construction poles.  The answer appears to be about box construction poles. And for 2018, the number is 586.

Then we go to U-AMPCO-112, the question is about box construction poles.  There is no differentiation whatsoever, and the answer is 282.

MR. TAKI:  So in U-AMPCO-112 --


MR. LADANYI:  Right.

MR. TAKI:  -- the reference in that interrogatory, if you look at that reference, Exhibit U tab 1B, schedule 1, that is in reference to one of the outcome measures that we put forward, which is specific to box framed poles.

So the response to the interrogatory is in the context of that measure, while the other interrogatory that you were referring to, U-SEC-100, it is referring to JTC2.18, which is about the box construction program as a whole and the number of poles being replaced in that program.

MR. LADANYI:  But they're for the same year, 2018.  Why would your measure in the scorecard be for a different number of poles?  I don't understand it.  Honestly, I am totally confused now.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe just to assist and maybe it's because -- I believe the witness said earlier that the higher number of poles related to the box construction program as part of area conversion.

And it may help Mr. Ladanyi -- not to interfere with his cross, but it may help him if he wishes, that maybe the witness could describe the area conversion program and the nature of the poles that are replaced on box construction and the nature of those two poles.

MR. TAKI:  The box construction segment of the area convergence program, as has been described in the evidence, is to convert these feeders that have box framed poles to the newer standard, which is shown in the picture that I was alluding to earlier.

MR. LADANYI:  So the difference...

MR. TAKI:  Sorry.

MR. LADANYI:  The difference between the two interrogatories is actually...

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Ladanyi, he hasn't finished the punch line, I think.

[Laughter]

MR. TAKI:  Thank you.  As we execute these projects and convert these feeders into the newer standard, some of those existing poles are box framed poles.  Some of those poles are not box framed.  And the reason could be that they were replaced on a reactive basis, or for some other reason.  So they're framed to a newer standard.

But when we execute the entire project, we will bring the entire feeder up to the standard, and that involves replacing poles that are framed as a box and poles that are not framed as a box.  I hope that provides a clarification.

MR. LADANYI:  I am thinking I am getting it now.  So one set of -- one answer is dealing with the area conversion program and the other one is dealing with the total population of the box framed poles being replaced.

So some are replaced part of the program and some are replaced individually in response to problems?

MR. TAKI:  No.  All of these numbers are related to the area conversion program.  The larger number is related to the number of poles being replaced in the area conversion program and the smaller number is a subset of the larger number, and it is representative of the number of box framed poles being replaced in the area conversion program.

MR. LADANYI:  I don't want to spend any more time on this.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just to make sure I have got it clear here.  So you have a pole line, and for the most part it is box framed construction.  But maybe one had -- woodpeckers take it out, and when you replace it it's no longer box frame, and so when you go to take out the whole line not all of them are box frame?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. LADANYI:  I will move on, Madam Chair.

So if we can go to Presentation Day transcript, May 3rd, 2019, and specifically page 8, at the bottom.  And I believe that Ms. Klein is speaking here.  And if I can read it:

"At the same time, we are working on addressing significant evolving challenges, things like increasing frequency and severity of extreme weather."

Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I see that in the transcript.

MR. LADANYI:  So I wanted to check -- fact-check, in fact, this statement.  And I had recalled that there was an article in the newspaper which I did not bring with me that was written by Robert Muir, who is the manager of Stormwater for the City of Markham.  And I contacted Mr. Muir by e-mail, and he kindly sent me a presentation that he made on May 1st, 2019 to a group.  And if I can just give you a clarification.  So that is exhibit which to the presentation, is -- what is the exhibit number, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, which one, Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  This one on the screen, "IDF Trend Analysis."


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's K2.6.

MR. LADANYI:  K2.6.  K2.6.  And I know that Board members in past proceedings wanted all of the acronyms explained, so MECP on the cover page is Minister of Environment, Conservation, and Parks, which is the current name of the government ministry that is responsible for this.

IDF stands for in intensity, duration, and frequency, and it is a term that Environment and Climate Change Canada uses to classify storms and their frequency and duration.

And it follows written standards -- I am not testifying.  I am trying to explain what these terms mean.

So this is a presentation that Mr. Muir made at a group that meets every once in a while to deal with issues of storm waters.  And he made this presentation because there's been a lot of material in the press about increasing intensity, duration, and frequency of storms, and he then got information from Environment and Climate Change Canada, and he doesn't have personal information, and he summarized it in this presentation.

And I am not going to go through every page here, but -- because it's going to take a long time, and you can study it on your own.  It shows, for example, that if you go to the last page, which is page 13, which is Mississauga extreme rainfall trends, which would be typical for Toronto as well, and we see here that five-minute rainfall intensity in fact has been decreasing in the period from 1990 to 2017.  Do you see that?  Do you have any reason to disagree with this analysis?  I mean, he obtained this from -- he tells me entirely from Environment Canada.  He doesn't have personal information.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if that is a fair question, Madam Chair.  I mean, we don't know the basis of the information, where it came from.

I know my friend is indicating it is coming from Environment Canada.  The most that this reveals is that this is a trend.  Whether or not that is the basis of its calculation or whatever else, I don't know if we can agree or disagree with respect to that.  I don't think it is something within the purview of these witnesses.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, I think Mr. Keizer has a point.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I heard his point.  I will put it another way.

Does Toronto Hydro have any information that would be contrary to this?  For example, let's turn to page 14, which is specific to Toronto.  Do you have any information that is different that would say -- that would, let's say, prove your statement that there is increased frequency of severe weather?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Ladanyi, I would like to take you to -- there is a section in our evidence where we talk about extreme weather, and it provides a number of examples that hopefully will help address the question.

So if you go to Exhibit 2B, section A-4, and you go to page 12.  You will see that we have provided a figure there -- actually, two charts.  One of them is for cumulative rainfall and the other one is cumulative high-wind days.  And what we've indicated there is that the days with the highest -- the ten days with the highest cumulative rainfall have occurred, as you can tell in the red, in the more recent years, and similarly as it relates to cumulative high-wind days.

And if you move to the next page, Table 4, we've described a number of extreme weather events that we have experienced over the last few years that demonstrate the statement that we started off with in this dialogue, that Toronto Hydro is experiencing more events around extreme weather.

MR. LADANYI:  I see that.  If I could draw your attention to the letter from the Minister of Environment, Honourable Catherine McKenna, and what exhibit is that, please?

MR. MILLAR:  2.5.

MR. LADANYI:  2.5?  Okay.  In the middle of that letter, there is a sentence.  It says:

"Extreme precipitation is also projected to increase in the future, although the observation on the record has not shown evidence of consistent changes in short-duration precipitation extremes across the country."

So although there is a lot of other things in the letter -- and you can certainly refer to it -- here the Minister McKenna says that in fact the Ministry -- or the Department of Environment and Climate Change Canada does not have any evidence that there is a persistent or consistent change in short-duration precipitation.  There's certainly isolated events, but -- as you pointed out, but there is no long-term trend.

And if I can also draw to your attention the last exhibit in this area, which is the series of graphs, Toronto city, which is also from Environment Canada, which is which exhibit, Mr. Millar, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me, which one, Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  Trend.  It is a bilingual exhibit, trend.

MR. MILLAR:  That is 2.4.

MR. LADANYI:  2.4.  You will see that.  So although, yes, I admit that there were some significant number of storms in recent years, the long-term trend in fact is declining, as you can see that from the Ministry -- for the Department of Environment and Climate Change.

You have no reason to disagree with that?

MR. KEIZER:  Again, I don't think that the witnesses are in an ability to answer these.  It may require some level of expertise to be able to interpret the charts appropriately, and I don't think it is within the expertise of these witnesses to do so.

MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if I could intervene for a minute?  I wonder, given that the nature of where Mr. Ladanyi is going appears to be in the nature of giving evidence from or through Robert J. Muir, is he intending to produce that witness?

MS. ANDERSON:  We certainly haven't granted that at this stage.  I don't think we have had that request.

MR. LADANYI:  Robert J. Muir is the employee of the City of Markham.  I have not asked him to be a witness.  I thought the material here is all obtained from the federal department of Environment and Climate Change, so I have not contemplated to bring him as a witness.

MS. ANDERSON:  But do you accept that these witnesses perhaps are not experts in rainfall?  What I couldn't see when the exhibit was brought up from your evidence is what was the source of your graphs on rainfall.  There was probably a footnote, I assume, that we didn't see.

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  There is a footnote there, and the source is the Government of Canada, as you will see in the footnote.

MS. ANDERSON:  So it would require someone with some expertise to understand the difference between that and this, perhaps.  But I am not sure of the relevance of that here.

MR. LADANYI:  I think that -- well, I can answer it myself right now, looking at the years.  So the graphs that Toronto Hydro produced, and they're on the screen now, are for a period of 1997 to 2017.

And the graphs that I just had up are for a longer trend, starting in 1940.

MS. ANDERSON:  But the relevance of the different trend perhaps is -- for the purposes of what Toronto Hydro is putting forward as far as impact to their system, which is of course the relevant issue, I am trying to get to what the question is for this panel.

MR. LADANYI:  The question for this panel -- and I will be coming to it momentarily, is to what extent they are changing what they're doing as a result of their expectation of storms.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think that is a fair question for this panel, what the plans are for the system.

MR. LADANYI:  So if I could turn you to the presentation day transcript, page 41, at the bottom, Mr. Janigan is asking a question.  And you will see the question:
"I believe you indicated that over the last rate period, extreme weather caused about $10 million in unanticipated expenses.  Has that experience caused Toronto Hydro to change any forecasts with respect to both operations, or potentially capital expenditures on the basis that potentially extreme weather is something that will be more recurrent as we go forward?"

And there is a lengthy response here.  I have read this response several times, and I must say that I am confused by the response.

My impression is that from the response -- but you can correct me -- is that Toronto Hydro is doing what it was always doing.  It is actually not doing anything special, but please correct me.

And that is on page 42 and afterwards, 42 and 43.

MS. COBAN:  Madam Chair, if I may interject?  The witness that gave this evidence at the evidence overview presentation is available on panel 2 to speak to his -- to the evidence that he gave here.  He is responsible for managing that area of the company and can best address those questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just so I know, what area of the company is that?

MS. COBAN:  In terms of our emergency response...

MS. ANDERSON:  Part of operating costs, is it?

MS. COBAN:  Correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I guess the question is, does this panel have an answer from the capital perspective.

MR. KEIZER:  That is what I was just going to say, that this panel is in the best position to answer on capital.

MR. LADANYI:  So from a capital perspective, are you doing anything different than you would have otherwise been doing?

MR. TAKI:  Can I ask you to further clarify?  Different in what sense?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, Mr. Janigan asked the question, you are now expecting extreme weather.  And you have a capital program and an operation and maintenance program.

Are you doing something special as a result of this than you otherwise would have not been doing if there was no expectation of more frequent extreme weather events?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Ladanyi, I would like to take you to Exhibit, 2B section D2.  On page 8, starting at line five, we have described a number of efforts related to responding to extreme weather events and the increasing frequency of those events, and they have been described here.  I will briefly go through them.

The replacement in the overhead system renewal program, the replacement of existing poles with taller poles with armless construction and tree-proof conductors to reduce vegetation contact risks.

The introduction of stainless steel submersible transformers to help make them more resilient against flooding.

Within the underground system renewal program, replacement of air-insulated pad-mounted switches with SF 6 sealed pad mounted switches, due to failures related to contamination in the air.

Within the network system renewal program, the replacement of non-submersible automatic transfer switches with remote power breakers with submersible equipment.

Within again the network system renewal program, the replacement of end of life and deteriorated non-submersible protectors with submersible protectors.

Within the network condition monitoring control program, the sensors that we are installing will allow us to detect flooding in those vaults.

The network circuit reconfiguration segment, again with the network system renewal, will help us be able to improve our restoration capabilities.

MR. LADANYI:  I see all of these.  It is probably not necessary to read the whole thing; I've noted that.  I wanted to ask you however, were you not doing this all along?  You did it like five years ago.  All of these things you have been doing for years now.

Is there anything that you've now started that you have never done before?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, there are, and I will provide you some examples.

The stainless steel submersible transformers is not something -- is something that we use introduced a few years ago.

The network condition and monitoring control program, that is a new program in this application.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  For a change of pace, we will go somewhere else now.  Thank you.

If I can have the technical conference transcript of February 20th, 2019, page 59.  And there -- could you go further down?

I am discussing with, I think, Mr. Taki -- I am not sure who is answering here.  Just give me a minute.  The idea of a performance bond.

So as I understand it, Toronto Hydro's contract with Carillion Construction, that was doing phase one of Copeland, had a performance bond of $28 million.  Is that right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I believe that is correct, subject to check.

MR. LADANYI:  And you are an experienced project manager and engineer.  Performance bonds are normal in the construction industry, are they not, for larger contracts?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, they are typically, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So could you explain to me what is a performance bond?  It's a bond, I understand, but you correct me, is that the contractor will give you, and that you can actually exercise the bond or cash it if the contractor cannot deliver the project.  Isn't that what the idea of the bond is?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The performance bond and relative to project construction is -- in our case, Toronto Hydro, is to reserve our rights as part of the work that's being completed and to the performance level that was outlined in the contract.

MR. LADANYI:  Maybe I will put it another way.  It is actually a document that a contractor like Carillion would have gone to a bonding company and paid some money for this bond.  And they give it to you, and you would normally keep it in your vault or in your office somewhere and then you would cash it if the contractor can't build the project.  That is what is normally done, isn't it?  That is how I understand it works.

MR. TRGACHEF:  There would be a process to invoke the purposes of that bond.

MR. LADANYI:  You mentioned that there is a -- in discussions, I believe, earlier this week, yesterday -- that there is a court case against the contractor, Carillion.  Is that right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  There are proceedings with Carillion.

MR. LADANYI:  Carillion, okay.  I will get the name right.

And -- but those proceedings have nothing to do with the bond.  They haven't built the project.  So you should really have your $28 million, shouldn't you?

MS. COBAN:  I don't think that this is an area that this panel and this witness in particular can speak to, as it touches upon the ongoing dispute resolution process.  Those questions are better addressed for panel 3.

MR. LADANYI:  Should I continue?  All right.  I'll --


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  Do you have further questions?

MR. LADANYI:  -- I will then go, on the same vein, I must go to ask you about the number that you quoted as a total cost of this project, which was $204 million, I think you said 204.1 million.  Is that right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And if you were to actually -- I am not sure if you are expecting to receive this 28 million or not.  Would we subtract the $28 million from 204 to get a total cost?  Should we be doing this if you are successful?

MS. COBAN:  Again, this is a question best addressed to panel 3, in terms of how that will flow through.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think we previously established that yesterday about the question of what happens in a generic sense if money such as this came in, what would happen to them.  I believe that is -- it was established that that was panel 3.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, my point is this, that we have got an estimate here which this panel deals with, which is $204 million, which is a forecast of the cost.  I would like to know inside that forecast have they actually subtracted the $28 million or not.  That is the only answer I want to know.  I don't care.  they don't have to decide.  This is a forecast.  In a forecast one predicts likely outcome of some cost in the future; isn't that right?  So that is what it would be.  So I would just like to see what is in the forecast.

MS. COBAN:  To the extent that we need to answer that question we would be getting into matters that are subject to confidentiality relating to the ongoing dispute resolution process in terms of revealing our position with respect to that process, and panel 3 is best suited to deal with those questions, as they fall out of the ongoing legal process.

MS. ANDERSON:  So, Mr. Ladanyi, I guess you have an answer that panel 3 is the place to discuss these issues.

MR. LADANYI:  I will leave it at that, but I still don't quite understand what is in the forecast, and maybe we will find out by the end of this hearing what exactly is in that forecast, whether we should believe that number.  But I will go to another matter now.  I don't want to take up any more time with this.

So yesterday we discussed also the energy storage system, and -- do you recall that?  And in that context, all of the discussion was about the energy storage facility at Metrolinx, and that is at the Mt. Dennis Metrolinx shop.  Is that where it is?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, I believe that is where it is located.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  If I can take you to Energy Probe interrogatory 1C-EP-19.  There is an attachment to that interrogatory, which is your Metrolinx agreement, regarding this energy storage facility.

And I am not sure -- are you familiar with this agreement at all, by the way?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, I am familiar with the agreement.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So if you look at page 7 of the agreement, which says "description of work to be completed by Toronto Hydro", and on the next page, on page 8 is the "description of work to be completed by the customer".

So I understand that there is some work to be done by the customer, some by Toronto Hydro.  So the total cost of this facility would include both works.  But the agreement, the cost table on page 9, what does it cover?  Does it cover only Toronto Hydro's costs or is it total cost?  What is this?

MR. TAKI:  That's only Toronto Hydro's costs.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Even though Metrolinx will do some of the work, you will actually own this facility?  Is that what you said yesterday?  Would you own just -- would you only own your part of the facility or the entire facility?  Let's start like this.

MR. TAKI:  Can you clarify what you mean by "facility"?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, the energy storage facility.  It is right in the document.  I think it is -- there's -- I assume that this is a bank of large batteries that are connected sitting in some kind of an industrial building, that is what I assume it is, and that some of these batteries or wiring will be done by Toronto Hydro and some by Metrolinx.  That is what I assume it is, but you can correct me.

MR. TAKI:  We will own the batteries and the associated control equipment.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Now, we look at page 14 and specifically paragraph 13.2.  And there it says that:

"Toronto Hydro intends to submit an application to the Ontario Energy Board for the addition of Energy Storage Facility Phase 1 to its rate base."

Is this the application where this is happening?  Or is it going to be another application that we are talking about here?

MR. TAKI:  This is the application.  Actually, one moment, Mr. Ladanyi.  I just want to confirm something.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Ladanyi, I would like to take you to Exhibit 2B, section E7.2, on page 32.  There at the bottom of the page, on Table 19, you will see the costs associated with this specific project in 2018 and 2019.  And on the following page, there is a description of that work.

MR. LADANYI:  And you are asking the OEB to approve this in this application specifically.

MR. TAKI:  I believe this was in our previous application.

MR. LADANYI:  I am looking at these numbers and I can't reconcile them to page 9 of the Metrolinx agreement.  I will have to study them some more, and perhaps comment on it in argument, but I am studying this.

So this -- perhaps you can deal with it in argument about what exactly you are applying for here.

MR. KEIZER:  Fine.  We can deal with it in argument and clarify our position.

MR. LADANYI:  We are not finished with this item yet.  If you go to the bottom of page 14 of the agreement, it talks about operating agreement.  It says:

"The customer shall enter into an operating agreement with Toronto Hydro in a form acceptable to Toronto Hydro," and so on, and Toronto Hydro will maintain the facility.

And there was a discussion yesterday about Toronto Hydro's operation of this facility, and no one referred to this.  Can I ask you a first question:  Do you have an operating agreement with Metrolinx?

MR. TAKI:  For this specific facility, the operating agreement is currently under development.

MR. LADANYI:  Under development; all right.  Now, my understanding -- and perhaps you can correct me if I am wrong -- is that the purpose of this energy storage facility is to power the LRT streetcars in case there is a power outage, so they're not stuck in a tunnel under Eglinton Avenue.

Is that your understanding of what this battery bank will do?

MR. TAKI:  That is one of the things that it will do.

MR. LADANYI:  And yesterday during discussion, there was an allusion that you can actually operate this energy storage facility to provide power to other customers on the grid when there is a power outage.  Did you say that?

MR. TAKI:  I did describe that as a general benefit of energy storage.

MR. LADANYI:  So if there's a power outage and trains are stuck in the tunnel under Eglinton, and there's a power outage in part of Toronto, who would have priority over this battery?

MR. TAKI:  Again, Mr. Ladanyi, like I just said, yesterday, in talking about the benefits and functions of energy storage, I did talk about that energy storage behind the meter may be used for outage restoration.

With respect to the Metrolinx facility specifically, those types of functions will be determined through the determination of the operating agreement.

MR. LADANYI:  That is still under discussion.  So what you were saying yesterday is just speculative, isn't that right?

MR. TAKI:  Again, like I just stated, it was in general talking about the benefits of energy storage and the functionality.

MR. LADANYI:  If I can move on to another subject.  I am hoping to finish by 12:30 or so.  And then again, I mentioned that my associate, Dr. Roger Higgin, will be here on Wednesday to deal with other issues.

If you can turn to -- and I have difficulty identifying this particular exhibit, because it is an attachment to an interrogatory, and it is 2B-EP-43, appendix A.

It says -- unfortunately, there is a several numbering system.  It says page 17 and it talks about -- it is titled "Choose the infrastructure to be evaluated, feeder map".

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, what is the source of this document?

MR. LADANYI:  This is an interrogatory response from Toronto Hydro.

MS. GIRVAN:  What number?  Sorry.

MR. KEIZER:  I believe it is EP 43, appendix A.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is in this area.  Go to page 17 -- no, not this page.  That is the problem.  There's several pages 17 in this document.  It is a map that shows the rear lot areas.  Here, this one.  Thank you.

So the reason why I wanted this up on the screen for everybody is to have an idea of what we're talking about here when there was a discussion about rear lots.

I understand that rear lots are in purple, is that right?  They're highlighted in this slide?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, according to the legend.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  If I look at it, you discussed the other day about Markland Woods.  Markland Woods is where?  It is in Etobicoke.  Where would that be on this map?

MR. TAKI:  I don't have that specific information with me.

MR. LADANYI:  You can correct me later.  It is actually on the very left of the map, in that piece of Etobicoke that is sticking out, okay.  That is Markland Woods.

And it has a purple area, which means it is rear lot.  There are also other areas in Etobicoke, former Etobicoke Hydro, that are rear lot.

I see also, when I look over to Scarborough, the area of former Scarborough Hydro, there is also some rear lot areas.

I don't think the resolution is very good here, but I believe there is some in Forest Hill in the middle of the picture.  Would I would I be correct?  Roughly, that is where these things are?

MR. TAKI:  That is what the map seems to show.

MR. LADANYI:  So it's not a widespread problem in the city.   It's been there from the beginning of when those subdivisions were built, and I guess they were probably in Etobicoke built in late 50s or early 60s; that would be my guess.

So Etobicoke, from -- I never heard that Etobicoke Hydro had a lot of problems with this, and they probably must have had some way of dealing with it.  Why is Toronto Hydro having so much trouble with rear lots?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Ladanyi, yesterday we had a discussion around the rear lot program, and I talked about the reliability issues and the safety issues associated with those neighbourhoods.  And it is described in detail in the evidence as well.

MR. LADANYI:  You can correct me again.  I believe that Etobicoke Hydro had specialized equipment, i.e. smaller equipment to access the backyards to get at those poles.  And you don't have that, do you?

MR. TAKI:  I can't confirm what Etobicoke Hydro had in terms of equipment.

MR. LADANYI:  But is the rear lot really a very pressing problem?  It seems to me it has been there for a long time, and your conversions are going at a slow pace and they're relatively expensive.

So is this a very urgent need?  Or is this a nice-to-be-able-to-do-if-we-have-the-money need?

MR. TAKI:  The rear lot program is a program where there is a need for us to address the issues associated with those areas, to convert those and to bring them up to the current standard, again as we discussed in detail yesterday.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, in the same map, there is a legend about overhead.  What does overhead mean?

MR. KEIZER:  Just to be clear, Madam Chair, this is not a Toronto Hydro map.  So the witness has identified and agreed that the legends read these things, and those legends correspond to something on the map.  But just so we're not confusing this as being a Toronto Hydro map.

I know Toronto Hydro, I think, participated in this study, but I am not sure that it actually is a -- I don't know -- unless the witness can otherwise advise, I don't know if it is actually something that is Toronto Hydro stamped approved showing everything that is supposed to be here.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I guess I would be curious just to confirm, this was filed with an interrogatory response?

MR. KEIZER:  It was filed as part of a study that was prepared by -- I guess as part of a government initiative for which AECOM and RSI did, and Toronto Hydro was a participant in the study.

I just wanted to make sure, though, that --


MS. ANDERSON:  Toronto Hydro did not create the map?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, and it's actual fact that somehow we're testifying as to the veracity of the map, that's all.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, what was your question?

MR. LADANYI:  I am not asking for a rest of the map.  I would think, however, that when you look at the participants here, Toronto Hydro participated in this study.  So if the map was inaccurate in any way, Toronto Hydro would have told the participants:  This map is not presenting accurate information.  So I have to assume this is an accurate map.  Unless there is somebody that can point out what exactly is erroneous on this map, we have to assume that it is correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Can you help me out with the relevance of the accuracy, where you are going with that?  Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I actually was just going to use this map to ask a few questions about pressing needs of Toronto Hydro.  It is a nice place to see it all in one place.  But if they have a better map that shows all of these things, I will be happy to look at that.  It doesn't really have a huge amount of significance.  I was just going to ask about -- and my next question will be about overhead construction and why is the East York Hydro in a darker shade of pink or red than the rest of the city.  What exactly is specifically a problem with the old East York Hydro area?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair, and I am perfectly fine with that question.  I just, I don't want to complicate things, and I apologize if I am.  I just, if it is using it for illustrative purposes, that is fine.  I just didn't want it to be seen as though this was somehow that you verified this as, at least from this witness, as to its accuracy. But from an illustration perspective and the question that is asked, I am okay with that.

MR. LADANYI:  So this will be probably my next question, and we can go to break, I guess, is what is peculiar about East York Hydro.  I look at this map.  It is sort of in the centre of the map.  It shows East York Hydro as having slightly darker shading.  Is it good or bad?  Should we be concerned about East York Hydro area?  Can you tell us something about it?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Ladanyi, this work was done a number of years ago, and unfortunately I can't confirm exactly why the shading is slightly darker in that area of the city.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, maybe can I ask you a different question then.  Forget the map for a minute.

Are you experiencing a series of problems in the former -- area of former East York Hydro that you are not experiencing elsewhere, or is it -- East York Hydro better than other areas?  Can you at least tell me that?

MR. TAKI:  Is your question specific to, like, reliability?  Is there a specific -- can you --


MR. LADANYI:  It could be reliability.  You tell me.  You obviously seem to have some kind of concern of wanting to identify it in this meeting.

Can you tell me, what am I to conclude from -- is East York Hydro better or worse?  Just tell me that.  In reliability or whatever you want to say.  Whatever way you want to judge East York Hydro.

MR. TAKI:  Again, Mr. Ladanyi, this specific slide that you are showing that includes this map was from an exercise about five years ago.  And I agree with you, there was likely a reason for that shading.  Personally, I don't recall what that reason was.  If you have a specific question about one of our programs that I could speak to --


MR. LADANYI:  I am talking about now.  I don't care about five years ago.  Now.  That was my question.  Do you now have a specific concern about the area of former East York Hydro?  Now.  Today.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the witness is struggling with the issue of problem.  Like, any problem?  Or are you talking about problems with respect to overheads or underground or vegetation management?  Or...

MS. ANDERSON:  Are there any capital programs specifically targeting East York?

MR. TAKI:  Various programs, overhead program, underground program.  They do target the area of East York.

Sure, there are areas with the city where you will find rear lot, for example, as indicated by this map, but generally the overhead and the underground challenges that we've described in the evidence apply to the entire city, including areas of East York.

MR. LADANYI:  Lastly, what is 13.8 kV network?  Why should we know about that?  What does it do?

MR. TAKI:  The 13.8 kV network is different from the other distribution configurations in the city, and because it is different in terms of equipment and maintenance programs and so on that's been described in section E6.4, we've highlighted here on the map, that must have been the reason at the time that they highlighted it.

MR. LADANYI:  So is it harder and more expensive to work there?  Or cheaper?

MS. NARISETTY:  It's a different system.  It is a different type of distribution system.

MR. LADANYI:  But it costs the same to look after it?

MS. NARISETTY:  That would be a very general statement to make.  It has its own nuances and challenges, and we have a specific program to address that.

MR. LADANYI:  I think these are all of my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

The schedule did have us taking a lunch break at noon, but I was wondering, Mr. Quinn, we probably -- we'd normally go to Mr. Brett, but you had some follow-up.  Do you know how long you would be?  Can we...

MR. QUINN:  I indicated approximately 30 to 40 minutes.  With the help of the witnesses and their counsel, I think I could probably get through in half an hour.

MS. ANDERSON:  If you think we can get it done by 1:00, I think we would probably try and fit it in.

MR. QUINN:  I will do that, and if we need to take a break I am prepared to have minor overflow into the afternoon, but my intent would be to get through.  And I've mapped all of these through the Toronto Hydro mapping I've alluded to at the outset of the hearing, and each of these is a panel 1 question, so I trust that we should be able to move through this without deferring to panel 2.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:  (Cont'd)

MR. QUINN:  If we can bring back up the -- my compendium from GTAA that we had earlier today.  Starting at page 18, please.  So starting at page 18.  Do you have that?  I see most have it.  This is fairly generic.  There is nothing significant in that.

When investigating this issue upon request of my customer, I went to this vault access legislation code section from the Toronto Hydro website, and if you notice, which is evident on page 18, the top left-hand corner, so this was December 6th of last year.  And the vault access legislation and codes goes through Toronto Hydro's prospectus, some of which is now in evidence in this proceeding, but concludes with page 22.  It says that Toronto Hydro -- if you can move to page 22, yes, the top sentence in the last paragraph:

"Toronto Hydro will provide transformer vault entry once per year per vault location at no charge to the vault owner."

Now, again, that was December of last year.  In preparation for this hearing, I went back to that same URL that I had from December, and you will see on page 24, this is the result that I received.

So first off, can you explain why, if Toronto Hydro has not changed its policy in terms of the initial inspection, that it has removed its stated responsibility to provide that that it had back in December?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, between December of 2018 and June 26th, the date you printed page 24, Toronto Hydro's website underwent a complete revamping.  We have a new website and that is probably why you lost the link, because it is now not working.  It doesn't necessarily mean the information is not on the website.

MR. QUINN:  Can you confirm, then, that the information is available, and Toronto Hydro's position has not changed and it would be the same as what we see on page 22, that you will provide the vault entry once per year?

MR. TAKI:  The information that was on page 22 aligns with our conditions of service; that has not changed.

MR. QUINN:  But does your website reflect your responsibility similarly?

MR. TAKI:  Our website does contain our conditions of service.

MR. QUINN:  Does it have this section?  If somebody were to look this up and didn't know to go to conditions of service, but they relied upon this in the past, would they be able to find this on your website quite simply under the section "vault access legislation and codes"?

MR. TAKI:  I can't confirm that this is the page as it was still as it was on the website.

MR. QUINN:  Would you take an undertaking to provide what is currently on Toronto Hydro's website under vault access legislation and codes?

MS. COBAN:  Sure, we can do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE WHAT IS CURRENTLY ON TORONTO HYDRO'S WEBSITE UNDER VAULT ACCESS LEGISLATION AND CODES


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you could move to page 37, please, of our compendium.  So I just wanted to understand the evolving numbers from Toronto Hydro, and then we can discuss the bigger picture implications.

Starting at page 537, I see two numbers here.  There's approximately 5,400 customer-owned locations, 4,600 have Toronto Hydro equipment.  Do you see those numbers at the top of page 37?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So inspections likely would be required in most if not all of those vaults, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We would be inspecting the roughly 4,600 that have Toronto Hydro equipment.

MR. QUINN:  And the customer would be responsible for the residual, whatever that would be, 800 or so of their own accord.  They would have to do the inspection, and Toronto Hydro would not be involved in it?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If Toronto Hydro doesn't have equipment in the vault, then Toronto Hydro would not be inspecting the vault.

MR. QUINN:  Wouldn't be inspecting.  But you would have the key to the vault?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Bear with me one second, Mr. Quinn.  I am just going to look at this exhibit specifically, just to orient myself with the context of that statement.

Subject to check, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So then if you would turn to the next page, we asked in GTAA, page 38 -- GTAA-6, in A we asked how many vaults are housed in apartment buildings.  And your response on page 39 is:
"It is estimated that there is 1,590 apartment buildings within the Toronto service territory which house customer-owned vaults."


Do you see that number?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So my clients' members focus at this point is on the 1,600 or so apartments that Toronto Hydro has, that have customer-owned vaults.  But simple math would say that is only about a third of the number of vaults, customer owned vaults for which Toronto Hydro would hold the key.  Would you agree with that?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  Approximately.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So in the 5,380 that was in your original answer, these vaults would be included in office buildings, schools, hospitals, and municipal buildings.  Is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, and there could be others.

MR. QUINN:  Other types of buildings, you mean?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So was it Toronto Hydro's intent, with the changes in conditions of service that were proposed last fall, was that policy change to charge those institutions and businesses?

MR. TAKI:  The policy was never changed, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  It was proposed to be changed last fall. Was your proposal to charge -- I am going to start first public institutions, schools, and municipal buildings?

MR. TAKI:  What was proposed would apply to all customers.

MR. QUINN:  To all customers?  Well, that was our original reading, but somewhere the numbers seem to break down.  So I am going to be asking for your help with understanding the numbers that had been put forth in your evidence.

So if you would turn over to page 40 in our compendium, and again this is out of your original evidence, you will see at table 3, customer-driven work expenditures by segment.

In the third row of the table, you see customer-owned equipment.  Do you see that line?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I see it.

MR. QUINN:  So am I correct in assuming that this is the line that would provide the funds that have historically been used to provide the initial inspection, and the access to the vault on initial inspection?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So what's clear to me in this original evidence is you are going from 3.5 million down to 1.9 million.

Now, there are interrogatories on this, but I want to make sure I understand your answers, because you have forecasted a reduction of 1.6 million.

Was that based upon the transfer of this cost responsibility to the customer?

MR. TRGACHEF:  No, it was not.

MR. QUINN:  Then can you tell me what was -- what contributed to that $1.6 million reduction?

MR. TRGACHEF:  As described in our customer-driven work program and vault access in relation to our Customer Action Form process, we did forecast a reduction in volumes subsiding after we made enhancements to that program.

Those reductions in volumes were expected in the periods of 2018 bridge to 2020 test.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Translating that into simpler language for me, it had nothing to do with the change in responsibility for who pays for the initial inspection?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If that is the case, why wasn't it?  If the responsibility for these inspections was going to be provided by the customer, why wouldn't you be forecasting an incremental reduction associated with that change in responsibility?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, we would have considered a change to the budget, had that policy been approved by Toronto Hydro, in our conditions of service governance process.

MR. QUINN:  Who approves that conditions of service governance process?

MR. TAKI:  It's a process with multiple layers of approval.

MR. QUINN:  All internal to Toronto Hydro?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And beyond the complaint process, is there any other stakeholder contribution to that decision making process?

MR. TAKI:  There could be.

MR. QUINN:  Can you give me an example of what it could be?  An opportunity for customers to be involved in that decision-making process?

MR. TAKI:  Well, it would be on a case-by-case basis, Mr. Quinn.  One example is what took place with respect to the specific proposed revision where we sent letters to customers that would have been impacted.

MR. QUINN:  And you received responses which are a matter of this record, so I won't take you through that at this point.

I will then choose to move forward.  If you would turn up the next page, page 41.  Clearly, when we understood that Toronto Hydro from the technical conference was not going to change its position in this matter, we were relieved.  But I am surprised at least to us there was an increase in this line for customer-owned equipment, which Board Staff saw also, and asked you the interrogatory in your updated evidence, which is reflected in U-Staff-180.

In the middle of that, staff provided the preamble, where it took from your evidence with the reference there:

"Toronto Hydro has increased its 2020 forecast of customer-owned service cost by $1 million relative to the original budget -- sorry, to the original filing due to this higher demand."

What higher demand is that speaking to?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Quinn, as I just mentioned, the forecast in our original application did consider a reduction in volume levels entering in the 2018 period to 2020.  Those volumes have not been realized.  We are actually sustaining the volumes that we've been seeing since the change or the enhancement of our CAF process.

MR. QUINN:  And again, in context, you said that none of these volume requests are attributed to requests for these initial inspections?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I don't believe that is what I said.  Can you clarify that question, please?

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then I will ask it in the positive.

This reduction in volume requests that we're anticipating, they have not been realized.  Does that have anything to do with the transfer cost responsibility for accessing these vaults for the initial inspection?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, as I mentioned earlier, there was no change in transfer of cost responsibility.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will try to handle this differently then.

If you could turn to page 45 in the compendium, please.  So we had asked in the technical conference because we had been provided in an IR response, GTAA 2, that the cost for the two-hour visit was $708.  So we had asked for Toronto Hydro to break out that cost, because we had come to understand it was provided by a contractor.

So you have broken out the costs in the table below to the total of $590 of total contractor cost.  Do you see that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so in the -- reading the response, the -- it does state that the remainder of the cost makes a charge relating to Toronto Hydro's administration and overhead costs, which are detailed there below.

So netting out the 590 from 708, you have got over $100 of administrative costs from Toronto Hydro staff to supplement the contractor cost.  Is that correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  So if I do the math and I started with apartments, if I do the math on 1,600 apartments at $700, I get $1.1 million.  Would you take that number subject to check?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Okay, I will agree with your math.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the -- what was at issue, I thought, was about a million-dollar charge.

However, if it was Toronto Hydro's intent -- well, let's just say it in the positive.  For the customer request at this time, if you have to visit -- or have your contractor on your behalf visit to open the vault for approximately 5,000 vaults around the city and the costs for each is $700, I get 3.5 million, which frankly, your budget -- your updated budget is less than $3 million.  So I don't understand the math.  How are you getting these vault accesses done under customer-owned equipment?  Clearly, you're saying it has nothing to do with the volumes of these requests.  There is other things that are going on.  And yet your entire budget is just $3 million.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Quinn, the way I would respond to that question is we don't necessarily get a request for every customer-owned vault in a given year to enter it.

MR. QUINN:  But they're obliged -- if there is a transformer in there, they're obliged, as we went through in the first half of our discussion this morning, they're obliged to have annual testing.  Correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  That would be their obligation.

MR. QUINN:  That would be their obligation.  But to access it, for at least the 4,600, and possibly up to 5,000, they have to get the key from Toronto Hydro.  Somebody from Toronto Hydro must attend.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Toronto Hydro would provide access to that vault, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And so how are you doing that?  Maybe one of the things -- and I was reluctant to ask for an undertaking, but can you provide the number of attendance or inspections over the last three years that would reconcile with your 2016, '17, and '18 budget line?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I know I should have probably asked this at the technical conference, but this was updated evidence where the lights went on for me that something didn't add up, numbers.

MR. TAKI:  If you give us a moment, Mr. Quinn, we are just checking if we have already provided that information.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Quinn, perhaps you could give us 'til after lunch to get back to you on that?  Take that away?

MR. KEIZER:  Why don't we do it this way.  Why don't we look to see if we can -- one, if there is an interrogatory, to advise by way of undertaking that there is an interrogatory that reflects it.  If the number is somehow able to be provided, we will.  If we can't provide it, we will explain why we can't provide it.

MS. ANDERSON:  That sounds fine.  So -- but this will be after lunch?

MR. KEIZER:  We can just undertake to do that.  
It's --


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  An undertaking then.

MR. KEIZER:  I'm assuming Mr. Quinn is finishing.  I am not sure if he is finishing before lunch or not.

MR. QUINN:  At this rate it is very close.  What I would propose -- because I would like to see what that reflected and be able to ask a question about it if it is out of context.  So I have, like, three more questions I could ask, and then I have one more section to have after that.  I can do that right after lunch, and that section will only take hopefully ten or 15 minutes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Well --


MR. KEIZER:  I guess all we can do is report as to whether or not there is an interrogatory that reflects that at this point in time.

MR. QUINN:  And if somebody can provide it to me for me to view and ask a question about, that would be extremely helpful.

MR. KEIZER:  To the extent we can e-mail Mr. Quinn if we do have it, if we do and are able to locate it --


MR. QUINN:  That would be most helpful, thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, e-mail just on whether the information is available.

MR. KEIZER:  If there is an interrogatory that has been asked in regard to those numbers, we will advise Mr. Quinn over the lunch hour as to the interrogatory number so he can review it and ask questions if he needs to.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So that sounds like a good place to break for lunch.  Oh, sorry, were you going to do those three more before lunch?

MR. QUINN:  I can do those three more --


MS. ANDERSON:  It sounded like you have about 15 or 20 minutes, and we're already at five to --


MR. QUINN:  Oh, that clock is slow.  Okay.  It would be fine to break, Madam Chair, if that's convenient to you --


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  If that works for you.  I think we have been here for a while, and to have sympathy on the court reporter we will take the break now.  And it looks like we are coming back at a little before 2:00.  One hour.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:54 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:00 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Okay, we're back and we left off with Mr. Quinn.  Did we -- did you get an answer?

MR. QUINN:  I was referred to an undertaking that was from the technical conference that had some information about inspections in 2018.

There is a growing understanding I have that there are more aspects to the customer-owned equipment line than we had presumed.  And quite frankly, I still don't see the reconciliation of how that number of inspections could lead to that amount of budget line.

So what I would like to ask of Toronto Hydro is to undertake to provide the inspections in 2016, 2017, and 2018 with the number of inspections, and the actual costs of those inspections broken out from the customer equipment line.

Then we will be able to isolate what is actually inspections and what is other things that were said this morning.  Those were these other aspects where the moving parts that made the budget go down and back up.

But we should see stability in the inspections line and we know what our costs may be if they change their mind in the future.

MS. ANDERSON:  Does Toronto Hydro have that information?

MS. COBAN:  We will have to take that back and look at it.  I think there is some complexity with how the number of inspections are tracked.  I think we have articulated that in our undertaking response that I referred Mr. Quinn to.

But we can take that back and undertake to provide the information and if there are certain parts we cannot provide, we will explain that limitation in our response.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Because I agree that having the number of historical inspections would be helpful.  So I would ask you to do your best to try to find the information.

MS. COBAN:  Of course.  We do have that number.  It is just a matter of being able to identify if they are the first inspection or the second inspection that would have happened in a year with respect to that customer.

MS. ANDERSON:  Understood.

MS. COBAN:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  So we have an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we will mark that as J2.3. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE THE INSPECTIONS IN 2016, 2017, AND 2018 WITH THE NUMBER OF INSPECTIONS, AND THE ACTUAL COSTS OF THOSE INSPECTIONS BROKEN OUT FROM THE CUSTOMER EQUIPMENT LINE

MR. QUINN:  Just to clarify a final point, Madam Chair, and thank you.  The second inspection, though, would not be charged to the customer, correct?  So it wouldn't be a budget item for you?

Sorry, I have said that incorrectly; I apologize.  It would be charged to the customer, therefore it would not end up in your budget.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So just for the record for clarity.  Thank you.

So I said I have a few generic questions and then I will hit the last area hopefully quickly.

My main question:  Are the vaults housed inside of a building better protected from environmental conditions that could lead to longer life of the assets, as opposed to those that are outside and exposed to environmental conditions?

MR. TAKI:  Generally, that would be true.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Does Toronto Hydro track the relative degradation of similar equipment correlated to inside and outside vaults?

In other words, are you using that information as a differentiating factor to say your equipment lasts longer when it is inside versus outside?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, could I ask you to repeat your question just so I am clear?

MR. QUINN:  Does Toronto Hydro track the relative degradation of similar equipment correlated to inside versus outside vaults?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We do have the inspection information for vault equipment, which would be indoor.  And vaults that would be outdoor, namely our submersible transformer vaults, were our network transformer vaults.

MR. QUINN:  So as part of your condition analysis, do you look at the relative degradation of the same equipment in a submersible vault versus an indoor vault?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The equipment would be different.

MR. QUINN:  There is no like for like type of equipment types of transformer switches or whatever that would be both used indoor and outdoor?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps the best way for me to answer that, Mr. Quinn, would be to take you to -- I believe it is page 43 of your compendium.  I know you have asked this particular question here in the context of asset lifespan.

However, a good example would be an underground transformer submersible would be different than an underground transformer in a vault.

MR. QUINN:  And so what you're saying is the relative difference is only likely five years on the shortened of the life cycle for those transformers?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  These are the useful lives that we have for equipment that is in a submersible vault versus a building vault.

MR. QUINN:  To be clear, are these useful lives the accounting useful lives, or what you are recognizing as the actual useful life of the equipment?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  These are the useful lives that are in the Kinectrics study that we have spoken about before.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I actually just want to ask parts I was going to defer on.  My general question then is from your experience, equipment inside building vaults can last longer than those outside and exposed to environmental conditions?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It can.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Does Toronto Hydro pay rent for the space, for the vaults inside of buildings?

MR. TAKI:  No, we do not.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Does Toronto Hydro charge for locates?

MR. TRGACHEF:  No, we do not.  That is a free service.

MR. QUINN:  Why don't you charge for locates?

MR. TRGACHEF:  As part of our safety prevention program, locates are free of charge and the purpose of that is to promote the public to utilize the service for the purposes of safety.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So why wouldn't that same type of safety philosophy apply to the inspection of heat detectors that are protecting equipment inside of a vault in a building?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  Can I ask you to repeat that question, please?

MR. QUINN:  We'll have to get the exact transcript interpretation of what you said, but I understood you to say you don't charge for locates because it is to promote the utilization of the service to protect the assets, the people -- I am elaborating beyond what you said.  But there is a protection acceptance by Toronto Hydro and they don't charge for that service, because they're protecting their equipment, and people, and safety and continuity of service.  That is what I believe.

How is that different from a heat detector -- how does Toronto Hydro differentiate a heat detector in a transformer vault in a building?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Locates are a legislative framework under the One Call regime.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And the legislation that applies to heat detectors and the annual inspections, while it doesn't apply to Toronto Hydro, it is still legislated.  Would you agree with me?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is a point of argument and also the fact is the legislative regimes may be very different.

MR. QUINN:  I will accept that and I will move on to the other area.  Thank you.

So the last area I wanted to talk about, and certainly this is the understanding that I have gained, that heat detectors in transformer vaults stems from major incidents of failing equipment contributing to damage and outages.

The most significant recent incident was on Secord Avenue in Toronto.  Amongst the information I forwarded to Toronto Hydro on Tuesday, including information that was available publicly on the incident and some follow up work done by the city.

So I have included a couple of city reports and I am going to just highlight a couple of items and ask you questions about it.  But if you could turn to page 25 of the staff report on hydro vaults and heat detectors?  

Do you have that?  I want to provide context for this.  And it says, you know, this is -- the summary is:

"The insulation of heat detection involves containing Toronto Hydro's equipment, hydro vaults located in apartment buildings in Toronto."

Do you see that in number 1?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And further, it goes on to say:

"The proactive cooperative inspection program of Toronto Fire Services and Toronto Hydro for hydro vaults located within privately owned buildings in Toronto, including a proposed plan and budget for accelerating the critical safety prevention work."

Do you have that?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And then I wanted to point out this report -- and now it's under number 4 -- it is finalized by saying:

"This report has been written in consultation with Ben LaPianta, executive vice-president, Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited."

Would you agree with me this is a collaborative -- a report that is describing a collaborative effort between Toronto Hydro and the City and Toronto Fire Services?

MR. TAKI:  What I read, it says, is that it was written in consultation with Ben LaPianta.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But number 2 said the proactive cooperative inspection program of Toronto Fire Services and Toronto Hydro, so I am just laying context for my questions.

MR. TAKI:  What is your question?

MR. QUINN:  Do you agree with me that this is a collaborative effort between Toronto Hydro and Toronto Fire Services as part of the city?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Quinn, the report -- it states in the report that the report was prepared in consultation with Ben LaPianta.  That is what it says.  And the second point, specifically the second point is about a program between Toronto Fire Services and Toronto Hydro for hydro vaults.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Let's turn to page 27.  The nature of the program.  In the middle of that first paragraph says:

"These are for hydro vaults located in privately owned buildings in Toronto to ensure compliance with the Fire Prevention Act 1997, or Fire Code as applicable."

The last sentence says:

"Where a hydro vault is out of compliance with the Fire Prevention..."

It says FPPA, the acronym for the fire code:

"...Toronto Fire Service may take appropriate actions to have the building owner -- sorry, may take appropriate action to have the building -- the property owner bring it into compliance."

Do you see that?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the logistics of the program, it goes on to say:

"Toronto Hydro participates in the cooperative inspection program by identifying with Toronto Fire Service with access to the hydro vaults located within privately owned buildings in Toronto."

So my question for you at this juncture is:  Did Toronto Hydro charge for these services?

MR. TAKI:  Toronto Hydro does not charge Toronto Fire Services for access to vaults.

MR. QUINN:  So would that have been in the budget line for customer-owned equipment, or was it handled as a special project?

MR. TAKI:  It would be in the budget line.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

So we go on to read on the next page, the top of page 28:

"In 2011, Toronto Hydro and Toronto Fire Service negotiated a resolution to charges laid under the Fire Prevention and Protection Act against Toronto Hydro."

Do you see that?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Do you know if that was in relation to Secord explosion and fire?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, what does that have to do with the costs and programs that you are enquiring about related to a particular incident?

MR. QUINN:  You may remember -- excuse me, through you, Madam Chair, you may remember in the technical conference we had some dialogue, and you were concerned about the materiality of what we were pursuing.

And I will get to the number in a moment, but this is a City report written in consultation with Toronto Hydro that says Toronto Hydro was charged under the Fire Protection Act, and I am just trying to understand if that was in relation to the Secord incident.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess my question is, what does one particular incident have to do with the rates and charges that are in question in this application, and, you know, the line of enquiry that we talked about this morning?

MR. QUINN:  Through you, Madam Chair, I was trying to provide to this Board an understanding of the impetus for the inspections in the first place, what negative outcomes had happened in the past as a result of insufficient inspections, and that is why Toronto Fire Service and the City have treated it with the importance it has and have reported on it, and this is the information I had that was publicly available that demonstrates that concern.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, we all know that they do inspections, and the basis of inspections and the elements that Mr. Quinn has already examined going back and redoing or reconsidering an event that took place, I guess, in 2011.

I am not quite sure why that is relevant in this circumstance today, and the particular plan and proposal that you have before you.

MR. QUINN:  If I may?  There was a concern lodged by the counsel for Toronto Hydro about the materiality of us pursuing this issue.  We're identifying that it is just not dollars that are being shifted around one way or the other, that there are safety implications, and we believe, as it is with locates, that this is a service of mutual benefit in protecting equipment that Toronto Hydro ought to consider when it makes decisions about how its conditions of service may have evolved through this IR period.

I can move forward, Madam Chair.  I just wanted to highlight the importance.  And to bring us back to the nature of the original second -- sorry, 2 Secord Avenue, if you turn to page 35, this is the description of what is in the report that on July 20th, 2008 an explosion did occur at 2 Secord Avenue in the former Municipality of East York, now City of Toronto.  Subsequent inspection of the transformers revealed that it had sustained an internal failure, causing an electric arc within the transformer windings, eventually resulting in a catastrophic rupture of the transformer tank.

Stopping there, can Toronto Hydro staff tell me if a heat -- sorry, could a heat sensor detecting increasing temperature sense the failings that were occurring prior to this catastrophic rupture?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, it is my understanding that the Secord Avenue issue is an ongoing piece of litigation.  So I guess unless -- I have concerns about it being examined, in particular those fact circumstances.

Mr. Quinn has the information on the record with respect to Secord Avenue.  He can argue what he wants with respect to the gravity or seriousness of the safety, but dissecting Secord Avenue as one particular incident that occurred, I am not sure that that is really advancing the overall consideration of the issue that you have before you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just so I am clear, this at 2 Secord was customer-owned equipment?

MR. QUINN:  It was an apartment building.

MS. ANDERSON:  Apartment building at 2 Secord.  So I think you do have the report, so you have information on which you can make argument.

MR. QUINN:  What I don't know, Madam Chair, is, because I am not an electrical engineer, can a heat detector sense increasing temperature for a failure such as Secord Avenue, where there was degradation of the transformer, eventually leading to catastrophic failure.  Would a heat detector give early warning to that type of condition?

MS. ANDERSON:  So generically --


MR. QUINN:  Generically.  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- you're saying, because obviously in this particular case it is not Toronto Hydro equipment.  Just generic?

MR. QUINN:  Generically.  And it may or may not -- I don't know myself if it was Toronto Hydro equipment or not.  But I'm saying generically could it detect and provide an early warning to degradation which could have serious consequences.

MS. ANDERSON:  And I think the question -- again, we want to talk about the impact to Toronto Hydro's system and the benefits to it of inspection is the issue.

So, you know...

MR. KEIZER:  My concern is that we're using Secord Avenue as a basis for that examination where it is a particular circumstance that already has legal ramifications attached to it.

And I don't necessarily believe -- I think that could be prejudicial to Toronto Hydro in respect to that litigation.

If it's a generic-type question about a vault and Toronto Hydro's interaction with that vault, and how it interaction with the vault owner and the vault owner's responsibilities, I think that is a reasonable area of inquiry.

But I don't think dissecting the Secord Avenue is doing -- that happened quite a while ago, but still has continuing issues, is necessarily relevant to this proceeding.

MS. ANDERSON:  I agree you should be focussing just generally on the benefits or the impact to Toronto Hydro, not one specific case.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  I didn't say Secord Avenue.  And I am going to come back to Secord in a moment.

But could a heat detector detect increasing temperature prior to this type of catastrophic failure generically?

MR. TAKI:  In general, a heat detector by its very nature will detect heat, whether it's from a transformer or otherwise.

MR. QUINN:  If a transformer is failing, does it increase in temperature under normal operations?

MR. TAKI:  A transformer failure may result in increased heat and it may not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to finish with this. Madam Chair, thank you for assisting me in that portion.

Mr. Keizer had talked about an ongoing issue with Secord.  If you turn to page 46 of the compendium, please.  So now I read this -- and I am not a lawyer, but I read this as a settled matter, not an ongoing litigation.

Am I missing something?  If I can ask Toronto Hydro staff?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, first of all, I am not sure what the piece of litigation in itself has to do with the particular issues that generically apply with respect to the vault, nor do I, and nor do these panellists, have the ability to opine on the nature of what the legal document is before us, or the ramifications, or any other ancillary issues that may be arising from it.

MR. QUINN:  I was dealing with the issue of whether it was an ongoing matter.  I will finish with page 50 at the top, the settlement amount of $6.5 million.

Can Toronto Hydro answer the question of who paid Toronto Hydro's portion of that settlement?  Did Toronto Hydro shareholders or ratepayers?

MR. KEIZER:  This is not part, as I understand it, given the nature of whatever order this is -- which I think is 2014.

So if there were any settlement payments made or if they are in relation to this, I don't believe it forms part of the test year.

MR. QUINN:  It doesn't form part of the test year, Mr. Keizer.  What I am trying to demonstrate is there is potential of ratepayer risk if programs such as we're advocating for are not held to the same level of standard that they have in the past.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess all I can say, Madam Chair, is this is a point of argument.  If he wishes to make this argument, he can go ahead.

I think it is it really being proffered for other reasons, which is to trying to cast Toronto Hydro in a bad light.  So in my view, it is not relevant to the proceeding at hand.

MS. ANDERSON:  There was another dialogue about whether settlements -- how they are dealt with, and that was a different panel.  So generically -- without going into a specific case of how it was dealt with, which does appear to be out of the period, but just generically if there's a settlement and how that is dealt with, I think you said there was a different panel that could...

MR. KEIZER:  That was in the context of the Copeland litigation rising from...

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, different kind of litigation.

MR. KEIZER:  Different kind of litigation.

MS. ANDERSON:  But generically, is there -- is that something another panel can talk about when there is litigation?

MR. KEIZER:  In a generic fashion, yes, ma'am.

MR. QUINN:  If it is of assistance, and this will be my very last question, can I ask the question:  Has Toronto Hydro's insurance costs gone up as a result of this -- whatever finding was created in this settlement here?

So those are costs of this last period, or in the test year, has Toronto Hydro received an increase in insurance rates with this incident.

MR. KEIZER:  In respect of the 2020 test year, which is the OM&A expense that actually would give rise to rates?  Because I think that is the only relevant period which is in question.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is this the period that we're in?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, 2020 would be the only OM&A expense and insurance cost that would be representative.  Let me just have a moment, please.

[Mr. Keizer and Ms. Coban confer]

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, we will attempt to clarify as to whether there has been any impact on the insurance costs that may be reflected in the 2020 test year arising from the matter raised by Mr. Quinn.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it that is an undertaking, and it is J2.4. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO CLARIFY WHETHER THERE HAS BEEN ANY IMPACT ON THE INSURANCE COSTS THAT MAY BE REFLECTED IN THE 2020 TEST YEAR ARISING FROM THE MATTER RAISED BY MR. QUINN


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, those are my questions.  As I alluded to before, I will return next week on Thursday.  But this is the issue we're pursuing and I want to be respectful in making my departure now.

MS. ANDERSON:  Have a good trip to Calgary.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brett, you have the honour of bringing us out to the Friday of the long weekend.

[Laughter]

MR. BRETT:  No pressure.

MS. ANDERSON:  No pressure.  It's not that we are watching the clock -- but we are watching the clock.

MR. BRETT:  Everybody is in a hurry to get to the barbeque.  So in the public interest, I will stay focussed here.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  I have five topics I want to refer to, panel.  My name is Tom Brett.  I represent the BOMA, Building Owners and Managers Association, so commercial customers.

The first is capital projects, the magnitude of the capital budget.  The second is priorities.  The third is productivity measures.  The fourth is capital versus OM&A...

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brett, I am getting a few people asking if you could lean in a little bit closer to your microphone.

MR. BRETT:  Is that enough or too close?

MS. ANDERSON:  Not close enough.  They were having a hard time hearing you.  Maybe the other microphone?  Some seem better than others.

MR. BRETT:  It is on.  As I was mentioning, I have five topics.  They are capital -- the capital budget is the first.

The issue of priorities around the capital budget is the second. Productivity measures having to do particularly with capital is the third.

The relationship between capital and OM&A is the fourth, that's the relationship in this proposal.

And the two deferral accounts that you are responsible for on this panel, or two of the three deferral accounts, I gather, that you are responsible for, the -- well, you know what those are.

And then I want to confirm that the issues of -- just before I start, I want to confirm that the issue of the extent to which the plan reflects customer needs and preferences is really to be dealt with in panel 3.  Am I right in that?  That's the panel on which Mr. Lyle sits?

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Then the issue around the actual rate increases, proposed rate increases over the 5-year period and some of the nuances of that, is that also a panel 3 issue?

MR. KEIZER:  It is.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Dealing with, first of all, the capital projects, I want to start with BOMA IR number 62, if you could put that up, please.  And if you could just scroll down a little bit.  That's fine.  It is that paragraph.

This IR started with us asking about -- noting that the Table 7 in the evidence showed an increase of 20 percent in total cap ex in 2020 over 2019, and we'd asked about the justification for it.

In your response in the paragraph on the screen, you said that essentially the plan is a five-year plan.  And this is the part I want to ask you about.

The appropriate comparison for the capital expenditure plan is between the total 2020-24 amounts, and the total 2015 and '19 actual and bridge year amounts, and you say:
"On this basis, Toronto Hydro is proposing to increase overall capital expenditures by approximately 19 percent."

You can confirm that?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We can confirm that at the time of the filing of this interrogatory that was correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, are you suggesting something has changed since the timing of this -- since the filing of the interrogatory?  And if so, what exactly has changed?  What has the 19 percent become?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Unfortunately I don't have that in front of me.  But the difference would be that in 2018 actuals would have resulted, and so it wouldn't have been a bridge year.  We would have those results now.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Well, then could you provide an undertaking that gives the answer to the -- tells us what the 19 percent would be in light of the new information that you have, please?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, we can.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.5. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO ADVISE WHAT THE 19 PERCENT WOULD BE IN LIGHT OF THE NEW INFORMATION.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, the 19 percent, if I can ask -- and it would be a different number now.  Could you tell me how that was calculated?  Could you refer me to perhaps a document that can show how the 19 percent arose?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We can.  Just give us a moment.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Mr. Brett, I can refer you to our updates.  So Exhibit U, tab 2, Schedule 2, Appendix A is --


MR. BRETT:  Can we put that up on the screen, perhaps?  If you are going to refer to a...

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Exhibit U, tab 2, Schedule 2, Appendix A shows one of the OEB schedules where we show the capital expenditures from 2015 to 2024.

MR. BRETT:  Is that the -- just, I have a document here.  I just want to make sure we're talking about the same one.  I have a hard time with this.

I have U, tab 2 -- all right.  I have another document in front of me, which is U-Staff-171, Appendix C.  Is that the same information?  It's a document that compares total and actual expenditures.  It gives the actual capital expenditures, including the impact of capital contributions for each of the years from two-15 to two-24.  That is U-Staff-171, Appendix C.  Is that essentially -- now, that has a series -- yes, you have it here now.

That shows, for example, in 2015, the first year, net total expenditure of 491.4 and then increasing over the ten-year period in 2024 to 574.4.  Is that -- is this document what you would have used, or one for all practical purposes identical to this document, to calculate the 19 percent?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Mr. Brett, the difference between the two schedules, the one that you have referred to in U-Staff-171 and the one I referred to, is in the schedule I referred to there is a line at the bottom at which we deduct non-rate-regulated capital expenditures.  So anything that is provincially funded.

So that you cannot see in U-Staff --


MR. BRETT:  I see.  All right.  So that -- can you give me the reference for that again, your reference?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  Of course.  It is Exhibit U, tab 2, Schedule 2, Appendix A.

MR. BRETT:  A?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  A, yes.

MR. BRETT:  As in Alice?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Those amounts that you are deducting in your -- in the document you are referring me to, these are non -- these are capital expenditures of Toronto Hydro, but they're not capital expenditures of the regulated portion of Toronto Hydro.  Is that right?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  How material are they?  I mean, what is the -- I will look at it later, but just to save time, what are the sorts of magnitudes?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I am just doing a high-level math on the fly here.  They're to the tune of a maximum of 17.7 at the most in 2019.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And what would the one in 2015 be?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  2015 was $800,000.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  All right.  Well, that is -- and so that's the only difference.  So in other words, what you are referring me to, the document you are referring me to, is where you got the -- is the basis for your calculation of the 19 percent?  Correct?  Your document.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Sorry, could you repeat your question, Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  I think it is back to where you started.

When I asked you about how you calculated or on what basis you found the difference in new capital versus capital under the old program to be 19 percent, you referred me to this document that you have just been talking about.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And so you are telling me that that is the document you used to calculate the 19 percent.  Is that right?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  Mr. Brett, if you look on the screen there, what you will notice is the last three rows, the row reference, the third to the bottom called "subtotal", that total line there is exactly to the schedule that you are referring to.

And my colleague here, Mr. Mundenchira, is referring to the second-to-last line, which is the deductions, and the final line, and that is called "total", that is the line in which we did the calculation to calculate the 19 percent.

MR. BRETT:  The difference, though, between, just to be clear, the difference between this document that you are now referring me back to here and the document I referred you to a moment ago, the only difference in those numbers is the amounts in the -- is the amounts of the non-regulated related capital expenditures in each of the years, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  The reason I ask that -- and -- is because I did a calculation, and it was, to be fair, rough and ready, but I did a calculation based on the U-Staff-171 that I just referred you to.  What I did was simply -- just to make sure we're sort of on the same road here, I simply took the final numbers, the total capital expenditure numbers for 2020 through 2024, added them up.  These are the numbers taking into account capital contributions.

I did the same thing for the 2015-2019.  I subtracted one from the other.  And I looked at the difference as a percentage of the 2015 to 2019 amount.  In other words, there's the base amount.  Here is the difference and I took one as the percentage of the other.  And I got about 23 percent.

So maybe I could -- without pausing here, would you mind simply -- would you be able to make a calculation as an undertaking and just clarify whether it remains 19, or is it something different than that, taking into account the fact of course that there is a separate -- that we used, you and I used slightly different -- we used different documents, and the difference being the amount of non-regulated capital expenditure, which as you were saying in 2015 was 800,000 and it sort of goes anywhere between there and 18 million.

Are people following what I am saying?

MS. ANDERSON:  I guess I am trying to understand because we had an undertaking to update the 19 percent to new information.  So is your request based on that?

MR. BRETT:  I guess there is two things and they're sort of -- they're linked.

The first one is simply to update the 2019 information.  And the second one -- I'm sorry I take your point.  I've conflated the two things a bit.

The second one is in updating the -- perhaps you can do it this way.  In updating the information -- well, okay, I understand.  I think we can do it with one undertaking, so long as you -- so long as you, if you would be good enough to sort of detail the steps in your calculation.  Just don't give me a number.  Give me what number you divided by what and how you arrived at it, sort of the arithmetic.

MS. CIPOLLA:  We would be happy to do that.

MS. ANDERSON:  We're just leaving that as the previous undertaking.

MR. BRETT:  Now, Mr. Lyberogiannis, I would like to turn -- I would like you to turn up the original -- your presentation, your presentation day document at page 10, if you would, please.

MR. KEIZER:  Are you referring to the transcript or to --


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I am referring to the transcript.  Not the slides, but the transcript, page 10 of the transcript.  You were answering -- oh, no, you were making your part of the initial presentation that day.

Can you hear me all right, by the way?  Do you have page 10 there?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  A few more seconds, Mr. Brett.  Yes, I have page 10.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So if you look at the second sort of the paragraph starting at line 10, and this is your presentation to the Board.  You say:
"The bottom line is that Toronto Hydro's capital plan averages approximately 560 million annually over the 2020-2024 period."


You don't get into the total numbers that we just discussed.  But you go on and talk about the two charts and so on.

And then you add the sentence, the next sentence you say:
"These charts show that for total capital, you will see that the 2020 to 2024 plan is comparable to historical expenditures.  There is, however," and this is what I would like to emphasize, "a slight increase, and I will speak to why that is needed."

My question to you is would you not agree with me that 19 percent -- well, I think we can assume that the updated will be pretty close to 19 percent for purposes of this question, in any event.

A 19 percent increase in total 5-year budget over the previous 5-year budget, it really is not a slight increase.  It is a material, substantial material increase.  And that you really have misstated in your presentation -- which was not subject to any cross-examination -- you have misstated the amount of the -- you have misstated the capital budget, the difference between the two budgets.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Can I just take one minute, Mr. Brett?  I am going to find the presentation, I believe the slide that I was on when I made that comment.

So Mr. Brett, I believe I was on slide 6 of the presentation when I made that specific comment, and I was referring to the top chart that is there.

And the particular comment that I made was referring to the 2010-2024 period.  So I was looking at a longer term trend.

With respect, if you are comparing strictly the 2015-2019 period with the 2020-2024 period, then the 19 percent number that you have calculated, or an updated number that we will be providing as part of the undertaking, would be the fact of the specific increase if you are comparing just those two periods.

MR. BRETT:  You would agree with me that on that basis, that the 2020-2024 cumulative capital budget is a material increase to the 2015-19 capital budget?  Not a slight increase, but a material increase.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It's an increase of 19 percent.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  And I don't think -- do you think that normally that people would, business people would refer to a 19 percent increase in budget as a slight increase?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It would -- I think we spoke about this yesterday and we spoke about it with Mr. Rubenstein, in terms of what the specific increases are.  There we spoke about it with respect to system renewal specifically.

And it is a 19 percent increase for needs that the system has.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Another question on that same table that we were looking at.  We can use either the one -- the piece of evidence that I spoke to, which was U-Staff-171, or the one you were using are, I think, equally applicable.

My question really pertains to the capital contributions received, so it is a fairly narrow question. But if you look at the capital contributions over the period -- for the previous plan, if you look at the actuals, they tend to be in the range of between 47 -- well, 50 on the high side and 17 on the low side.

There is one year when they're higher than that.  In 2019, I believe it is 110 or something -- about 120.

But anyway looking forward at the forecast period, these capital contributions now are forecast at -- well, if we look at 2020 through to 2024, they're in the 90s and, in a couple of cases, well over 100.

My question is what accounts for the large increase in the forecast of the capital contributions in general.  I mean, as a general proposition, just looking at the arithmetic of it, they are a larger percentage of the proposed cap ex in the new budget -- in the 2020-'24 budget than they are of the -- for the most part in four of the five years of the 2015 to '19 budget.

So my question is, what accounts in your view for the increase in the forecast of capital contributions?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Brett, if you just give me a moment, there is an IR that I think will help us clarify the...

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Brett, I would like to take you to IR AMPCO 15.

MR. BRETT:  50?

MR. TAKI:  15, one-five.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Could we put that up, please.  And what section?

MR. TAKI:  Part D.  And it is on the last page, page 4.  There is a table.  Yes.  As you'll see, it breaks down the capital contribution by these different programs, and what you will see is the significant increase in the externally initiated plant relocations and expansion plays a large role in that increase over the five-year period.

MR. BRETT:  So the externally-initiated plant relocations and expansion.  So the externally -- okay.  I see the relevance of the first one.

As far as the expansion, what are you referring to there?  Are you talking about expansion to sections of the grid?  Or expansion in the sense of connecting more customers along existing lines?  Or both?  Is the expansion reference to customer contributions?

I understand the first one, externally-initiated plant.  I am taking that to be the contributions that you get pursuant to the utilities on Public Highways Act or other relevant legislation pertaining to changes that 
you -- changes in location you have to make as a result of municipal or provincial infrastructure decisions, I take it, but what would the expansions refer to?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Brett, to answer your question regarding expansions, expansions can happen in two areas on this table here.

One is under customer connections.  This could be expansions that we take on for system access and new load capacity.  So connecting new customers, expansion work may be required to connect that customer.

MR. BRETT:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TRGACHEF:  In the externally-initiated plant relocation segment, this is related to externally-driven work where a project -- and I can give you an example -- Eglinton Crosstown Project, a mass transit project --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. TRGACHEF:  So in this program -- and that program is E5.2 and Exhibit 2B, where we explain the use of that program to service those requests coming externally.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. TRGACHEF:  And within this program it includes relocation work for road authorities and non-road authorities, to facilitate construction of their projects.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. TRGACHEF:  As well, it can also initiate expansion work related to that externally-initiated project for the purposes of new capacity requirements.

MR. BRETT:  So let me see if I understand that last one.  You may have a request from, say, Metrolinx or Road Authority to change the location of some infrastructure, but you are saying that the -- you know or you forecast from the fact that this new infrastructure is going into place, that's either a new road or that you're going to have an additional demand come along in a new area, so you will have to expand your existing electric infrastructure, as well as relocate it.  Is that what you are saying?  Is that fair?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, that's a fair assessment.  Typically the way it would be administered is at the beginning of the projects the assets would be relocated to facilitate the work being requested.  So in the case of a subway line or an LRT, we may move -- we may be requested to move assets out of the way to allow for that tunnelling work.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. TRGACHEF:  As part of the reinstatement work -- so this is where that excavation is completed -- there may be a requirement based on our assessment of additional load capacity where we would take that opportunity, and if it made sense we would expand our assets to facilitate future capacity requirements.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Fine.  Thank you.

I want to move now to the second topic, which is priorities.  And on this one I would like you to turn up initially 2A-AMPCO-16.  This is an IR response from AMPCO.

This is a subject that was discussed at some length yesterday, so I am going to be -- I am going to take account of that in my questions.

You see there, if you just scroll down to (b), stop there, "the capital investment" -- I am going to quote the first sentence:

"The capital investment programs that form part of this application cannot be ranked in priority between them."

Now, you discussed this a fair amount yesterday with Mr. Rubenstein.  And I guess my -- Mr. Lyberogiannis, my question to you is, I really don't get why they can't.  Let me give you a word of explanation.

You have -- you said, I believe, yesterday that the different programs were so different and that the pieces that came together to make them up were very varied and that would stop you from not being able to provide a prioritized list of projects for any given year.

And you were speaking with respect to system renewal projects, I think, for the most part.  But whether you are speaking about all the projects in a given year of the four categories -- in other words, just system renewal -- or you're talking about system access, system service, system renewal and capital plant.

I don't understand why you would not have a prioritized list of those projects, given -- and I will say given that other utilities that we've dealt with recently, notably Alectra, does have such a list, could produce such a list, not only for each of the individual -- not only for the total projects in a give year, all of the projects in the four categories, but also for the projects within a category, such as the system renewal project.

So why is it that you -- why is it that you can't -- you don't do it and you say you can't do it, and I don't really get why.  I fully understand you might make some changes, some modifications going forward.  You have to do some tactical changes.  But why are you not able to at least state an initial list of prioritized projects or programs?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So, Mr. Brett, the particular interrogatory that you have drawn my attention to speaks specifically to programs.

So programs, we absolutely cannot prioritize programs amongst themselves.  We can't say that investing in our stations renewal activities, for example, is more important than investing in our network system. So from that perspective, we can't do that.

With respect to projects -- and you asked me two separate questions there.  With respect to projects, Mr. Rubenstein and I had a fairly long conversation yesterday, which you have alluded to, as to why we can't necessarily do that.  It has to do with differences and different needs that the projects are addressing, and the fact that often times those needs cannot be adequately compared on an apples to apples basis.

MR. BRETT:  So you are there thinking of something like the projects within a particular -- you are talking about there the projects within a particular program.  For example, the different projects that make up the rear lot conversion program, or the different projects that make up the -- what is it?  The square block?  I haven't got the right word, but the program you were discussing with Mr. Ladanyi.

That is what -- am I right that is the project by project comparison you are talking about?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  My mistake, Mr. Brett.  So I was referring to comparing projects in different -- between programs.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I understand.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So if we're comparing a very specific and you used the example of rear lot for example, within the rear lot program where you have a more homogenous group of projects, yes, we can say project A is a higher priority than project B.

MR. BRETT:  And you can say that presumably for other programs that are similarly homogenous to the rear lot program, that is to say projects within a program?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, to a reasonable extent.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, getting back to your first answer, you talked about how could we evaluate or how could we compare expenditures on stations with expenditures on network.

Well, I guess my question is, why couldn't you?  At some point you may have to.  In other words, you may say from an engineering point of view that all of these projects are necessary, and all of them are meritorious, all of them are necessary.  But isn't it the case that in certain instances, your company would have to decide, well, you know, we have to deal with the downtown.  That's more important than dealing with putting a lot of rear lot conversions in the suburbs into underground facilities.

I mean, at certain points decisions of that nature have to be made, don't they?  Suppose you were given the -- as Mr. Rubenstein suggested yesterday, supposing you were asked to reduce your capital expenditure by 10 percent, which you were asked to do last time.  Somebody in your corporation would then have to make a determination of what is most important.

They would have to make a determination among programs.  Isn't that the case?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Wouldn't that be -- in the normal course, wouldn't you expect that there would be initially some sort of base priority listing of projects to sort of -- to anchor the capital expenditure program and to provide a starting point?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In order to do that, what we would do is run the investment planning and portfolio reporting process that we spoke about yesterday.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I know that.  All right.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brett, we are looking for a reasonable break in what you are doing to take our afternoon break.  I am not sure --


MR. BRETT:  Probably I could do maybe another 10 minutes on this.  Or do you want to -- would you rather do it now?

MS. ANDERSON:  We are trying to finish up a little earlier today instead of going right to five.  So it might be --


MR. BRETT:  If you would rather do it now, that's fine.

MS. ANDERSON:  If you're about to move on to another area.

MR. BRETT:  I'm not going to another area yet.  I am in priorities; I am still going in the priorities area.  I would probably be another 10 minutes or so.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think we will take our break.  Twenty minutes.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:29 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Mr. Brett, just timing-wise, in honour of Canada's birthday we were looking to finish a little earlier today than most of the other days we've scheduled, which were all to 5:00.  So I'm not sure -- I mean, we want to go to at least 4:00, but let's look at where a natural break is in what you are doing.

MR. BRETT:  That's fine.  Thanks.  This panel will be back next week in any event, so --

MS. ANDERSON:  They will.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So I will shoot for no later than 4:00, and I will try and get a natural break, and you break for me at any time that is convenient for you.

I wanted to ask you, panel, you made your five-year capital forecast as part of this -- a part of your custom IR.  And you have, I believe it is fair to say, over the previous five years, if I look back at the document that you discussed with Mr. Rubenstein yesterday and also at this document -- chart that we were talking about at the beginning of my cross-examination, although it is not -- well, it is clear, I guess.

It looks like you have overspent -- you spent in excess of your forecast for the previous five-year program.  Now, I know you got into some discussions with Mr. Rubenstein on the nuances of that, and I don't want to get into that today.  So whether you overspent relative to your forecast or your adjusted forecast, taking into account the Board's decision in that case is not really material other than by way of a sort of an anecdotal introduction to my question.

My question really is, supposing you overspend in 2020 or 2021 relative to your forecast, you forecast capital expenditures moving up over this five-year period.

Suppose you overspend.  What happens to those overspends, in your view?  Those dollars that you have spent, cap ex that you have spent over and above the cap ex amount forecasted?  Are those dollars that you expect to recover in rates?  And if so -- if so, when?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Mr. Brett, in relation to our 2015 to '19 period --

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. CIPOLLA:  -- we would note that we spent within 1 percent of the approved ISAs based on the decision from the Board.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry.  When you say approved ISA --

MS. CIPOLLA:  Sorry, the in-service additions --

MR. BRETT:  -- you're no longer talking about cap ex.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yeah.  So that is what was approved by the Board.  In 2020 to '24, and based on the Board's decision, there will be an outcome of that, and we will reflect that into capital revenue requirement, and we will take that decision and relate that equivalent capital revenue requirement into cap ex dollars, and that will be then the dollars we will --

MR. BRETT:  That will be your new forecast.

MS. CIPOLLA:  That will be our reforecast, and we will work to that plan.

MR. BRETT:  Well, that's fine.  I get that.  Okay.  So you're saying you will work to that revised forecast, if I can put it that way.

But what if you actually spend more than that revised forecast?  What do you expect will happen then to those dollars?  That would be for your account?

MS. CIPOLLA:  What will happen in that regard over what was approved is there is the customer protection account of the CRRRVA --

MR. BRETT:  Excuse me, just let me -- sorry.  I just, I have a problem.  I have a hearing problem, so don't speed up too much.  Did you say a deferral account?

MS. CIPOLLA:  There is a regulatory variance account called the capital revenue-related variance account.

MR. BRETT:  Is that account not -- does that account not just deal with expenditure shortfalls on a cumulative basis?  Perhaps that's what you were going to get into?  If you -- you were -- let me ask the question again and then 
-- sorry for interrupting, you go ahead.  But let me just ask if I understand this correctly.

You're saying you would say, well, if we go over in one of these years, let's say 2020 in our first year, we may go under in 2021, and because that capital-related -- and I am speaking, I guess, revenue requirement now -- in other words, that account drives off the revenue requirement, not the amount of capital expenditure or not the amount of assets in-service; is that right?

MS. CIPOLLA:  It is correct that that account relates to the capital revenue requirement.  But the underpinning of the capital revenue requirement, as you well know, is the capital.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. CIPOLLA:  And so it is by default the account where any variances would occur around the execution of the plan from the timing variances and mix.

MR. BRETT:  So you are saying that an overage -- if you have an overage it would be offset -- it could be offset by an underspend?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Absolutely, and you would you have seen that in our 2015 to '19 period, where Mr. Millar earlier this morning was talking about underspends in '15 and '16, and then in subsequent years the overspends, those effectively in a five-year window allows us to operate the plan and provide that flexibility.

MR. BRETT:  Was he speaking -- I didn't have a chance to read all of that yet, but was he speaking in relation to the capital expenditure after capital contributions?  Or before?

MS. CIPOLLA:  The reference to the document that we were speaking to was after capital contributions.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah, all right.

Well, the -- so you are saying that in certain circumstances you might have offsets, but what if you -- what if you simply did not have offsets?  What if you had overspending in each year?  Or what if the overspends outweighed the offsets so you had a net over the five-year period, let's say a net $50 million overspend.

When is that -- when do you see that dollars -- is that something you would seek to recover at rebasing?  Is that -- or are you actually seeking to recover -- to have that reflect -- that overspend somehow reflected in rates in the course of the 2020-'24?  Which is it?  Or is it a combination?

MS. CIPOLLA:  So what I would say are probably two points.  The first, in the hypothetical situation that we are describing here, I think what Toronto Hydro would do is, obviously we monitor our program very closely.  We have governance controls that we look at our program spend on a monthly basis, and we make modifications to that, to the program, as the needs happen.  So if there is a reaction -- a storm or an event that occurs we have to obviously be reactionary and responsive in our plan.

And so, you know, what I would like to say as the CFO is that, you know, we would be governing this thing, that we wouldn't be at a $50 million overspend if that wasn't what was approved.

But in the hypothetical situation, should that occur, what we would effectively do is we would, from a funding point of view, if there is -- the customer protection mechanism of the CRRRVA account that exists around the capital revenue requirement.

And so if we overspent and put into service assets, that account would protect customers in relation to that, and that would be a give-back to customers in the next proceeding.

As it related to the spend, it would be effectively then gone through the rate-basing process in the next application.

MR. BRETT:  So essentially that money, that overspend, would get into rates in that particular year; is that the idea?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Some of these questions may actually be best addressed to panel 3, which is going to deal with regulatory matters, so it may be more helpful to do it there.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I think that is fair enough.

The one thing I -- I really am shifting gears here without saying so in so many words.  I'm talking really about deferral accounts, which I what I wanted to get to.

Now, you have two deferral accounts, one that this panel is responsible for.  One is this external-event driven deferral account, and the other is the underspend account that we've been discussing.

Are you on the next panel, by the way, on panel 3?

MR. KEIZER:  No, this is a different -- it would be a different panel on panel 3.

MR. BRETT:  I see, all right.  So the VP finance or executive VP finance is not on it.

MR. KEIZER:  We have another regulatory accounting person on panel 3.

MR. BRETT:  Right, okay.  And that is going to deal with the capital factor, for example, the next panel?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, that's correct, panel 3 will.

MR. BRETT:  So really on the deferral account, I guess -- I may be part of the problem here, but let me go at it from this point of view for a moment.

You have this externally-driven event deferral account and as I understand it, that account will collect dollars that are associated with variances in certain specific areas, that is to say driven by external factors.

Now, could you give me the external factors in question?  What I think they are are the legislated stuff.  What I mean by that is expenditures in your system access category above what you forecast that derive from relocations and -- well, relocations in particular, I guess, because of the Utilities on Public Highways Act.

I don't need to get into a long recitation.  I understand the statute, and I understand basically the kinds of municipal or provincial initiatives that can trigger your need to spend money to relocate.  I get that.

If there is an excess in expenditure over forecast, capital expenditure over forecast and that category, does that go into that account?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, that's correct, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  And then what other -- if anything, what other category of expenditures would be qualified for that account?  I should say variances and other types of expenditures?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Brett if I can just clarify for you, because you did mention system access and capacity.

That is a different program that would not be -- this account would not be used for new capacity connections under system access.

The variance account for the externally initiated projects, relocations and expansion portfolio, is related to externally-driven projects as we discussed earlier around anticipating expansion work for future capacity needs driven by those projects.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  So that is the area I wanted to -- that's what I thought it might be.

Have you had any funds of that nature flow into that account since it was opened?  It was opened -- it was opened in the last hearing, wasn't it, five years ago?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the amount in that account today -- well, let me go step by step.  Is that account cleared annually?  Or that just runs through until this year?  It's cleared this year?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The account is not cleared annually, so the end of 2019 is --


MR. BRETT:  It is going to be cleared in the -- it was cleared in the 2019 rate case?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  It is not -- well, we're not at the end of 2019 yet.

Specific questions on the clearance of the accounts would best be directed to panel 3, but it is a 5-year cumulative balance that is being accumulated in the account.  So it is after the 2015-2019 period that it will be cleared.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, all right.  So what part of the account are you responsible for, basically what goes in it, what qualifies?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, correct.

MR. BRETT:  And can you give any indication at the moment of how much of the amount of funds -- or is this in evidence that I can look up, the amount of funds that come from the expansion, the category of expansion of capacity linked in some fashion to a relocation?

What I am trying to -- maybe just one word of explanation.

What I am trying to ascertain here is that normal, what I will call normal expansion of your system, whether connections of customers or an expansion into a new area of a major line, transmission line or major distribution line, in the normal course, that's something that is forecast and is not subject to that account.  Is that correct?

The only time it would be subject to that account is if you can link it somehow to a relocation.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Perhaps, Mr. Brett, I can give some additional background on how the account works.

In the 2015-2019 period, in the approval of the account, there was $4 million per year of in-service additions and associated revenue requirement that was approved in rates.

MR. BRETT:  Put in rates to start with, okay.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  That's the fulcrum, sort of, of it.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Pardon me?

MR. BRETT:  The fulcrum.  You are taking four and putting it in rates.  Then the account operates around the four million?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, the four million per year.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  It is tracked on a cumulative basis.  So any variance over or under that amount is put into rates.  That revenue requirement is what would be tracked in this particular variance account.

MR. BRETT:  Right, I understand that.  At least I do understand that now.

What I was asking is, was I correct in my description of the type of expenditure that the account was designed to capture?  It wasn't designed to capture all expansion projects, was it?

MR. TRGACHEF:  No, it is not.

MR. BRETT:  So is it as we discussed earlier?  It is only designed to capture that segment of expansion projects that can be demonstrably linked to something that you've got in connection with a relocation, as a result of a relocation, where you have taken the opportunity to make an expansion at the same time?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That is correct, Mr. Brett.  It's projects that are externally initiated that do the -- relocations as well as the expansion work.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  If I just go back for a moment to the other account, the variance account on the overall expenditures -- well, no. I think -- I think I will let that go for the moment, and take it up, if necessary, with the panel 3.  This might be a decent time to break, if you are interested.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think we will carry on a little longer.

MR. BRETT:  Because I would be moving on to a new section.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think we will carry on a little longer, thanks.

MR. BRETT:  You're finishing now?

MS. ANDERSON:  No, no.  We will continue for a bit longer.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I would like to move on to talk a little bit about the productivity gains, or productivity generally.

I would like to start with -- I would hike to start with just a reference to EB-2017-0049, if you have that case there.  I had sent a note around about making this -- oh, yes, you have a copy of it?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we do, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  If you turn up page 57 for a moment. This is not going to be extensive.  I just want to read a short paragraph here to sort of kick this off.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, this is the Hydro One decision?

MR. BRETT:  This is the Hydro One decision EB-2017-0049, the most recent one that was -- came out in March 7th of 2019.  And it is obviously a different utility.  And so it's -- there is a section in it called "productivity gains", and the topic is similar to the topic we have that's been discussed here, does the Distribution Plan adequately reflect productivity gains, benefit sharing, and benchmarking, so I am just concerned here with productivity, and I -- but the Board at page 57 was talking about this subject in their finding, and they said they commend Hydro for making the effort to identify and quantify potential cost savings.  Then they go on to say that they find that:

"Hydro One's presentation of these productivity gains makes it difficult to differentiate between what is a productivity gain and what would be an exercise in due diligence in reviewing these potential saving areas to ensure their costs have been appropriately budgeted."

But I want to go down and read one more sentence.  They're talking about -- the Board is talking to Hydro One about what they would like to see in the future, and they say:

"Directs Hydro One to clearly describe the methodology by which any claimed productivity savings are determined and whether these savings represent net cost savings for the company which would translate into reduced costs for the ratepayers.  In addition, as recommended by BOMA..."

And this is not an attempt to blow my own horn.  I just -- it could have been recommended by anybody:

"...in its final argument, the OEB directs Hydro One to file within 12 months of this decision and order a report showing the status of the productivity initiatives listed..."

And they refer to a Staff IR:

"...including actual savings, with a discussion of any deviation from plan."

And they go on finally to say:

"The list of proposed productivity initiatives contains a number of discrete initiatives with specific metrics and target savings and, therefore, lends itself to monitoring and reporting.  It is also expected that Hydro One's senior management would want some confirmation that these proposed savings are being realized."

So I want to then ask you -- with that in mind as a sort of a context, I would ask you to turn up 1B-CCC-14.  And -- that is it.  And I would like you to -- this is a -- we had asked some IRs, but we ended up here through a process of redirection.

And I think if you look at the sentence, the question -- do you have this now in front of you?  It's CCC 14?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Just one more moment, Mr. Brett.  I am just bringing it up in my notes.  I do have it now.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  The question says, essentially, "Please set out for each year" -- well, let me go back a half-step.  The question says:

"Please explain how the rate framework incents productivity.  Please set out for each year, 2015-'19, the productivity gains achieved for both OM&A and capital."

And the -- and so the -- if you look over the page, you scroll down to page 2, and the sentence that starts in that last paragraph.  That's -- and I think the sentence -- read the sentence:

"At this time, Toronto Hydro is unable to quantify the estimates of cost saving of the planned initiatives."

And you had stated a number of planned initiatives in response to another IR by Board Staff, I believe, to which we were also referred.  But the -- if you look above the planned initiatives in the previous paragraph, if you want to just drop down -- that's it.

Say, for example:

"Exhibit 2B, section A4.4 highlights some of these activities, including grid modernization, capacity improvements, standardization, area rebuilds, conservation first,, safety and environmental costs, enhanced work coordination, facilities asset management system and procurement."

Now, some of those relate to OM&A, some to capital.  I am mostly interested at this stage in the capital and the productivity improvements that are dealt with or specified in your capital budget.

And you have said that you -- and that you can't provide detailed -- you can't provide quantitative estimates -- "unable to quantify the estimates of cost savings of planned initiatives".

Then you say:

"As part of continuous improvement throughout the planned period, Toronto Hydro intends to evaluate the operational efficiencies gained, as well as the reduced and avoided costs."

And that -- so my question is, there -- is why is it that you cannot or you have not estimated the approximate dollar value of these various initiatives?  Is it because you haven't yet defined the initiatives sufficiently?  Or you -- is it because you simply think that the -- it's impossible at this stage to identify the -- or estimate the dollar savings?  Or is there some other reason why you can't specify what the -- not specify.  I mean, you're not going to -- I understand -- I get that you are not going to be able to give us this to the dollar.  But sort of an estimate, even a range, so one can get an idea of what the overall magnitude of these potential savings are.  Are they really, you know, the reality of them, the magnitude of them?  Do they seem proportional to the effort?  Do they sort of generally, in a general sense, make sense?

And I have another -- you know, that's -- I would like that -- that is my first question.  Why can't you do this, really?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps the best way to answer that question is through an example and an illustration of how Toronto Hydro has communicated within all of the evidence that's on record, the efforts that we make when it comes to productivity.

So if I can draw your attention to Exhibit 4A, tab 2, Schedule 4.  If we can go to page 11.

MR. BRETT:  Now, this is in the OM&A, eh?  Could you put that up, please?  This is the paragraph --


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So this is an example, and this is pervasive throughout our evidence.  You will see headings such as cost control and productivity measures.  This is from our corrective maintenance program.  And what you will notice is a series of bullets that outline cost control and productivity measures that we have undertaken.

This particular example has four bullets.  The first one, for example, speaks to introduction of new inspection forms and how the data that we are receiving from those new inspection forms allows our engineers to make more comprehensive decisions and richer -- sort of a richer basis for the decisions we're making.  And improvements such as that is very difficult to quantify on a dollar perspective.

The next bullet there speaks about what we refer to as "find it, fix it".  It is a productivity initiative that we have introduced over recent years in our inspection programs, and what we're doing is we are arming our inspectors with equipment to make very -- to make relatively small fixes on-site; for example, replacing guy guards, replacing light bulbs, changing some hinges.

And AMPCO actually asked an interrogatory about this specific item, this specific productivity improvement, and I can actually read that reference into the record.  We don't necessarily need to pull it up, but I believe, if I am not mistaken, it is 4A-AMPCO-79.

So there we actually quantified the number of work requests that we're saving through this type of productivity initiative.  So with that initiative, we can quantify the dollars savings.

What our position is, is that throughout this evidence, you will see this type of heading; productivity is pervasive in everything that we do.  Productivity is not about a list for us.  It is really about how we operate our business.

So throughout the evidence, you will see those types of examples of productivity initiatives and the tangible benefits that we're receiving from them.

MR. BRETT:  Well, thank you.  There are some specific instances, particularly in respect to OM&A that you have pointed out.

At this stage, I am more interested in the way in which the capital budget incents or allows for productivity, and I asked the question in light of the passage I read you Hydro One decision that basically said:   we want to see specific proposals and we want to see efforts to measure those proposals.

Now, they did leave open the idea that you could do this on a year-by-year basis, and report on a year-by-year basis about the savings achieved.

I assume -- I shouldn't assume, but would you have a problem doing that on an annual basis?

MS. COBAN:  I don't think that the witnesses on this panel can answer that question.  Maybe the witnesses on panel 3 can help you with that.

MR. BRETT:  Someone should be able to answer it.  Not necessarily on this panel, but I would expect -- maybe you could give a heads-up to panel 3, so somebody would have that answer, because that would be something that -- I mean, the answer may be no, we don't want to do that. But I would like to get an answer on that from panel 3.

But just going on, you had said yesterday that the essentially you -- and this was Ms. Cipolla.  You basically said, as I understood it, to investigators or to examiners, that look, the best evidence of our productivity is to look at our ability to execute our program and, you know, within our or close to our budget.

But I think the Board has made it clear in other instances that that's not sufficient.  It isn't sufficient to simply say, oh, well, look we do everything with productivity in mind.  And we have executed our budget with productivity in mind and that's why we haven't, you know, gone over, or -- I think that the notion is that you want to have specific initiatives, identifiable and measurable initiatives that will enhance productivity, both on the capital side and as the one you just discussed with me on the O&M side.

And the O&M side, so it is not enough just to say, is it, well, you know, look at our execution.  I guess my question is, are you saying that you really don't -- that you don't need to demonstrate specific capital linked measures that will enhance productivity?  And that it may have the result, for example, in reducing O&M costs?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think on the capital side, the way we look at productivity, and similar I have provided you examples from the OM&A side and Mr. Trgachef can provide you a number of examples from the capital side and our day-to-day operations and how we run them.

From our perspective, and we also -- you will note on record is the UMS study on unit costs.  So when we look at our overall productivity, UMS has indicated that on almost all -- I think it is 12 or 13 categories that were benchmarked, Toronto Hydro is in the second quartile, so doing better than the median.

So that is an indication of the commitment that we have to productivity, the fact that we are very, very productive.

As I mentioned, I have given you some examples on the OM&A side.  Mr. Trgachef can continue on and provide examples on the capital side.  But we certainly have examples and productivity initiatives that we are constantly undertaking.

MR. BRETT:  And are you also measuring as you go forward the impact of those productivity initiatives, measuring the savings from them sort of on a year-over-year basis?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In some cases, where we're able to quantify items, we are.

In other cases, where they're not quantifiable, we're not.

However, we are looking for ways to measure items wherever we possibly can.

MR. BRETT:  What is an example -- why are -- what is an example of a productivity initiative that you feel you cannot measure at this time?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The example that I gave earlier with respect to corrective maintenance, the improvement that we made to our inspection forms to provide better data to our engineers for decision making purposes.

It is very, very difficult and very subjective to assign a productivity improvement with the presence of better data.  That is very difficult to do.

MR. BRETT:  But over time, would you not be able to, over a period of years, when you have had these new forms in use and your field people are using them in their inspections, would you not be able to link that to more timely maintenance decisions and less reactive work as a result?

Would there not be a way to do that to establish some trends over a 5-year period, say?  You might not be able to see it right away, but you might see it over a longer period.

Do you have a structure set up where you might measure it over a longer period yet?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Over time, we may be able to do that.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brett, is this a reasonable time?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, certainly.

MS. ANDERSON:  So I think we will call it for the day and see everyone back here on Wednesday at 9:30, and hope that everyone has a great long weekend and we will see you back.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair?.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  My understanding is we will be able to provide Mr. Rubenstein the corrections that we had discussed earlier in the day, we will be able to do that today.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, excellent.  Thank you.  
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:07 p.m.
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